CPHCL Company Limited

Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2024

Company Registraiion Number C 257



CPHCL Company Limited
Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2024

Directors’ report

Independent auditor’s report

Income sratements

Statements of roral comprehensive income
Statements of financial position

Statement of changes in equity - the Group
Statement of changes in equiry - the Company
Statements of cash flows

Notes to the financial statements

Pages

11
12
13
16
17

18



CPHCL Company Limired
Report and Financial Starements 51 December 2024

Directors’ report

The Directors present their report together with the andited financial statements of CPHCL Company Limited,
{the "Company’ or ‘CPHCL’ and the consolidated financial statements of the Group of which it is the parent,
for die year ended 31 December 2024,

Principal Activities

The Group’s main business is the ownership, development and operation of hotels, leisure facilities, and other
activities related to the tourism industry. The Group is also actively engaged in the provision of residential
accomemodaton, the rental of rerail and office space, the origination of projects for the Group and third-party
investors and services related to construcdon, project management and catering,

Results and Review of Performance

Total revenue for the vear under review increased o €348.66 million from €326.89 million lasc year, an increase
of 7%. The financial performance for 2024, particularly for the Group’s operations in Russia, continued to be
impacted by the military conflict which erupted in February 2022 berween Russia and Ukraine. This conflict
led 1o internatonal sancdons on Russia, which had an effect on the Group’s results and assets held in Russia
as disclosed in Note 5.2, The peopolitical simation berween Russia and the West resulted in a drop in
internadonal business. Nevertheless, the hotel stll increased occupancy levels during the year over 2023 in
view of the local ade thai the hoeel always enjoyed.

On the strength of the increased revenue, the Group recorded a gain on operating results before depreciation
and fair value adjustments of €62.68 million compared to €5%.82 million in 2023, an increase of €2.86 million.
This after deducting one-off preopening costs in 2024 amounting to €6.1 million, relating to the opening in
Rome and Brussels. The Group recognised uplifts on its investment properties amounting to €11.58 million in
the income staiement. These related mainly to an uplift of €5.36 million on land held in Marsa, a €3.04 million
uplift on the Tripoli Commercial Centre, a €2.61 million uplift on the Corinthia Hotel in Prague and a €1.08
million uplift on the St Petersburg Commercial Centre. There were decreases in fair value of €0.28 million on
the apartments in Lisbon and €0.17 million on the offices in London. The uplift on the land held in Marsa was
recognised pursuant to a promise of sale agreement which was signed in February 2025. The asset was also
reclassified as a current asset as an ‘asset held for sale.”

In the income statement, the Group also recognised a reversal of a previous impairment on the Corinthia
Tripoli Hotel of €6.48 million. This was partally offset by an impairment of €0.15 million on the office block
in London.

As a result of the improved performance from group operations and the above gains, the results from operating
actvities increased from €33.26 million in 2023 to €50.85 million in 2024, an increase of 52.9%.

The Group’s share of net profit of associates and joint ventures amounted to €6.83 mullion (2023: €6.36
million). This primarily relates to MIR p.Lc. through iis principal subsidiary company Palm City Limited, owner
of the Palm City Residences iz Libya.

Norwithstanding higher interest costs of €47.91 million in 2024 compared to €42.51 million in 2023, the Group
recorded a profit before tax for the year of €9.81 million compared to a loss of €5.25 million recorded in 2023.
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Directors’ report - continued

In other comprehensive income, the net surplus on the revaluation of hotel properties amounted to €74.4
million compared to €59.0 million in 2023. These include €27.69 million on the Corinthia Hotel Lisbon; €15.36
million on the Corinthia Hotel London; €11.99 million on the Golden Sands Resort; €9.26 million on the
Corinthia Oasis, €6.26 million on the Prague property and €8.35 million on the Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg.
These gains were partially offset by less fair value losses of €3.02 million on the Corinthia Hotel Budapest,
€0.90 million on the Thermal Hotel Aquincum and €0.60 million on the Ramada Plaza Tunis.

Translation gains of €13.33 million in Other Comprehensive Income were reported relative to a loss of €19.69
million registered in 2023. The strengthening of the Pound Sterling in 2024, relatve to the reporting currency
of the Group, which is the Euro, resulted in a gain on transladon of the investment in London. This was
partially offset by the weakening of the Rouble in relation to the Group’s operations in Russia.

The Group registered other comprehensive income of €71.98 million against an income of €27.79 million
registered in 2023. The share of total comprehensive income attributable to the shareholders of CPHCL
amounted to €40.89 million for the year under review. The corresponding figure for 2023 was a profit of €2.21
million.

Derails of the results for the year under review are set out in the consolidated income statement and the
statement of comprehensive income on pages 11 to 12 and in the related notes to the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

At 31 December 2024, the Group is reporting a positive working capital of €105.19 million relative to a positive
position of €9.19 million reported in 2023. As disclosed in note 12, the significant increase in the positive working
capital position was mainly due to the reclassification of €144 million relating to Corinthia Lisbon, from property,
plant and equipment to assets held for sale. The 2024 current liabilites include a bond issued by International
Hotel Investments P.Lc (IHI), a major subsidiary of the group, of €45 million which is due for redemption in
May 2025. To partially refinance this bond, THI issued a €35 million bond and has already successfully secured
the necessary funding.

Future Developments

The Group remains committed to driving growth through its core service companies, Corinthia Hotels Limited
(CHL) and QPM Limited (QP). Leveraging the extensive know-how and goodwill that these companies have
built throughout the years in hotel and project management, the Group is able to expand further with minimal
capital investment. CHL is set to further elevate the Corinthia brand with new luxury hotels ,opening in Rome,
Doha, Riyadh and Maldives in the coming years. ~

In parallel, the Group is also focusing on capitalising on its expertise in real estate acquisition, financing,
planning and redevelopment within the hospitality and serviced residential sectors. This is spearheaded by a
new division, C-Rev, set up in 2024 which focuses on exploring real estate deals in the USA and Europe. This
venture has already signed projects in Beverly Hills, California and Grace Bay on Turks & Caicos. Besides
generarting fee income, these projects will also lead to new engagements for CHL and QP, in addition to further
strengthening the Corinthia Brand’s global footprint.

Separate to C-Rev, a wholly owned leasing company has been set up to undertake long-term rent commitments
for new hotels developed by third parties. This entity will enter into leasing and operating arrangements for
flagship properties owned by third parties, as is the case for the Corinthia Rome Hotel.

In Malta, the zoning permits for the Oasis project have been secured and planning permits for the hotel and
serviced villas are expected in 2025.

|38
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Directors’ report - continued
At CPHCL Company level, the Group’s strategy is to pursue new revenue streams in Malta and overseas.
Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the Company’s and the Group’s operational and cash flow forecasts. Based on
this review, after making enquiries, and in the light of the current financial position, the existing banking
facilities and other funding arrangements, the Directors confirm that they have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The hotel industry globally is marked by strong and increasing consolidation and many of the Group’s current
and potential competitors may thus have bigger name recognition, larger customer bases and greater financial
and other resources than the companies within the Group.

The Group is subject to general market and economic risks that may have a significant impact on the valuations
of its properties (comprising hotels and investment property). A number of the Group’s major operations are
located in stable economies. The Group also owns certain subsidiaries that have operations situated in emerging
or unstable markets. Such markets present different economic and political conditions from those of the more
developed markets and present less social, political and economic stability. Businesses in unstable markets are
not operating in a market-oriented economy as known in other developed or emerging markets. Further
information about the significant uncertainties being faced in Libya and Russia are included in Note 5.

The Group is exposed to various risks arising through its use of financial instruments including market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk, which result from both its operating activities. The most significant financial risks
as well as an explanation of the risk management policies employed by the Group are included in Note 35 of
the financial statements.

Reserves

The movements on reserves are as set out in the statements of changes in equity.

Directors

The following Hawq_scn-‘cd as directors of CPHCL during 2024 and until the date of these financial statements:

Mr Alfred Pisani — Chairman

Mr Moussa A. Atdq Ali — Vice Chairman, appointed 7 January 2025

Mr Khaled Amr Algonsel — resigned 8 August 2024

Mr Emhemmed AB Ghula - resigned 220 January 2024

Mr Mohamed Monder Al Moktar Alghnimi - appointed 227¢ January 2024
Mr Abdulrahman A M Dibiba — deceased 31+ July 2024

Mr Samer Abuajaja — appointed 29% October 2024

Mr Joseph Pisani

Mr Victor Pisani

The Company’s Articles of Association do not require any of the directors to retire.
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Directors’ report - continued
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Maltese Companies Act, (Cap. 386) to prepare financial statements which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of each reporting
period and of the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for:

= ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;

= selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;

®  making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and

* ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to presume that the Company will contnue in business as a going concern.

Even though not required by law, the Group has set up an independent audit committee which meets regularly.

The Directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with the Maltese Companies Act, (Cap. 380).
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularides.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers have expressed their willingness to continue in office. A resolution proposing the re-
appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Company will be submitted at the forthcoming

Annual General Meeting,

Approved by the board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Alfred Pisani
DigeCror Director

22 Europa Centre,
Floriana FRN 1400
Malta
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Sharcholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion:

o  The Group financial statements and the Parent Company financial statements (the “financial statements”)
of CPHCL Company Limited give a true and fair view of the Group and the Parent Company’s financial
positon as at 31 December 2024, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Internatonal Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU; and

e The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386).

What we have audited
CPHCL Company Limited’s financial statements, set out on pages 11 to 126 comprise:

o the Consolidated and Parent Company income statements and statements of total comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2024,

e the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of financial position as at the year then ended;
o the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
e the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Audidng (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Aunditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements of the
Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy
Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Malra. We have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.
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Independent auditor’s report - wntinued
To the Sharcholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Emphasis of matter — significant uncertainty

We draw attention to the Note 5 in the financial statements, which highlights the significant geopolitical risks
associated with Russia and in Libya and their impact on the Group’s financial statements.

As it is uncertain as to when these risks will subside, the estimation uncertainty related to the valuation of the
Group’s assets in these territories remains heightened. We believe thar different plausible scenarios may impact
the financial performance of both the Russia and Libya operations and the valuation of related assets in a
significant manner. Developments and revisions to forecast economic and market conditions after the date of
approval of the financial statements might give rise to potential changes in the outcome of management
assessments carried out subsequent to that date. This matter is considered to be of fundamental importance to
the users” understanding of the financial statements because of the potential impact that this uncertainty may
have on the valuation of the Group’s assets in Russia and Libya.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ report
(but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on ather legal and regulatory requirements.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obrained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor’s report - wntinued
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Responsibilities of the directors and those charoed with governance for the financial statensents

The directors are responsible for the preparaton of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 380),
and for such internal conrtrol as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the
Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 2 whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepricism throughour the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obrain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obrain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

~1
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Lndependent anditor’s report - continned
To the Sharcholders of CPHCL Company Limited

' ? ;- F 'y si At ad #1 srp oyl of 5 fa A 31711 J
Auditor's responsibilities for the andit of the financial statements - continned

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the relared disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obrained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Parent Company to cease to continue as
a going concern,

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audir.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The Report and Financial Statements 2024 contains other areas required by legislation or regulation on which we
are required to report. The Directors are responsible for these other areas.

The table below sets out these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related responsibilities and
reporting, in addition to our responsibilities and reporting reflected in the Other information section of our report.
Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided an audit opinion or any form of assurance.
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Independent anditor’s report - wntinued
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Area of the Report and
Financial Statements 2024
and the related Directors’
responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Our reporting

Directors’ report

(on pages 1 to 5)

The Maltese Companies Act
(Cap. 386) requires the
directors to prepare a
Directors’ report, which
includes the contents required
by Article 177 of the Act and
the Sixth Schedule to the Act.

We are required to consider whether
the information given in the Directors’
report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements.

We are also required to express an
opinion as to whether the Directors’
report has been prepared in accordance
with the applicable legal requirements.

In addition, we are required to state
whether, in the light of the knowledge
and understanding of the Company and
its environment obtained in the course
of our audit, we have identified any
material misstatements in the Directors’
report, and if so to give an indication of
the nature of any such misstatements.

Other matters on which we are required

to report by exception

We also have responsibilities under the

Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 3806) to report

to you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not
been kept, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us.

e the financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

e we have not received all the
information  and
which, to the best of our knowledge

explanations

and belief, we require for our audit.

In our opinion:

e the information given in the
Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the
financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and

e the Directors’ report has been
prepared in accordance with
the Maltese Companies Act
(Cap. 386).

We have nothing to report to you in
respect of the other responsibilities,
as explicitly stated within the Other
information section.

We have nothing to report to
you in respect of these
responsibilities.
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Independent anditor’s report - wntinued
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Other matter — use of this report

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Parent Company’s shareholders as
a body in accordance with Artdcle 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no other purpose. We
do nort, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person
to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior written
consent,

QQD,J

Lucienne Pace Ross
Principal

For and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers

78, Mill Street

Zone 5, Central Business District
Qormi

Malta

30 April 2025

10
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Income statements

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000
Revenue 6.1 348,660 326,893 5,294 6,899
Costs of providing services 6.2 (177,591)  (171,858) - -
171,069 155,035 5,294 6,899
Marketing costs (14,453) (12,893 - -
Administrative expenses 6.2 (69,407 (59,166) (5,131) (5,090)
Other aperating costs {24,533) {(23,158) - -
Qher operating results before depreciation,
impairments and fair value movements 62,676 59818 163 1,809
Depreciadon and amortsation 62 (30,497) (30,092) 47) (23)
Impairments on investents in subsidiaries 14,2 - - (1,901) (4,201)
Other losses arising on property, plant and
equipment 12 (115) {1,680) - -
Other operadonal exchange gains/(losses) 8N (1,480) 62 {186)
Impairment gains on property,
plant and equipment 12 6,329 275 - -
Net changes in fair value of investment property 11 11,584 6,423 - -
Results from operating actvities 50,848 33,264 (1,723) (2,603)
Net changes in fair value of financial assets
through profic and loss 19 57 {1,541} 57 245
Finance income
- interest and similar income 8 1,576 1,251 1,288 1,091

Finance costs
- interest expense annd similar

charges 8 (47,905) (42,511) (5,277) (5,192)
= net exchange differences on g (2,075) (2,037) ) i
borrowings ? ’

Share of net profit of associates

and joint ventures accounted for

using the equity method 15.1 6,834 6,360 - -
Other gains/ (losses) 476 {40} - (19

Profit/(loss) before tax 0811  (53254)  (5655) (6473

Tax expense 9 (4,415) {5,817) - (1)
Profit/ (loss) for the year 5,396 (11,071) (5,655) (6,474
Profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to:

- Owners of CPHCL 11,409 (5,482) (5,655) (6.474)
- Non-controlling interests (6,013) {5,589) - -

539  (11,071) (5,655) (6,474)

11
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Statements of total comprehensive income

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000
Profit/ (loss) for the year 5,396 (11,071) (5,655) (6,474
Other comprehensive income
Itemns that will not be snbsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Net surplus arising on revaluation
of hotel properties 12 74,394 58,999 - -
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of hotel
properties 9 (17,478) (15,283) - -
Shate of other comprehensive
inceme of joint ventures and
associates accounted for using the
equity method:
- Surplus arising on revaluatien of hotel
and other propetry 212 2066 - .
Costs of hedging (148) - - -
Deferred tax on hedging 9 33 - -
Ttewss that may be subsequently reclassified to
profiz or foss
Currency translation differences 13,325 (19,687} - -
Deferred tax arising on currency translation
differences 9 1,947 3,701 - -
Deferred tax atising on change in tax rate (602) - - -
Other 19 - - -
Share of other comprehensive income
of joint ventures and associates
accounted for using the equity method:
- Currency wanslation differences 277 (209 - -
Other comprehensive income for the 71,979 27.787 R )

year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income

for the year 77,375 16,716 {5,655) (6,474)

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to:

- Owners of CPHCL 40,892 2211 (5,658) (6,479
- Non-conrrolling intereses 36,483 14,505 - -
77,375 16,716  (5,655) (6,474)

12
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Statements of financiai position

The Group The Company
31 Decembetr 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
Notes €000 £000 €000 €000
Assets
Non-current
Intangible assets 10 9,941 2,463 - -
Property, plant and equipment 12 1,300,471 1,383,567 172 140
Right-of-use assets 13 16,423 18,628 116 142
Investment property 11 261,451 179,377 820 820
Deferred tax assets 29 45,605 37,766 3,555 3,555
Investments in subsidiaries 14 - - 349,009 350,659
Investments in associates and
joint ventures 12 111,920 108,103 24,002 24,002
Financial assets at fair value through
profit ot loss 1% 3411 3411 - -
Other financial assets at amortised cost 16 6,412 6,120 23,223 24,623
Trade and ocher receivables 18 11,173 6GB7 - -
Total non-currenr assets 1,766,807 1,747,122 400,897 403,941
Curtent
Inventories 17 21,341 16,755 - -
Assets classified as held for sale 21 162,386 62 - -
Other financial assets at amordsed cost 16 87 110 - -
Trade and other receivables 13 54,344 45,042 10,305 10,062
Current tax assets 759 2,300 - 1,580
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 19 160 386 1,254 1,479
Assets placed under st
Arrangement 26.2 77 77 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 20 83,238 101,398 5,190 9,448
Total current assets 322,392 166,130 16,749 22,569
Total assets 2,089,199 1,913,252 417,646 426,510

13
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Statements of financial position - continued

Equity and liabilities
Equity

Issued capital

Other reserves
Rewained earnings

Capital and reserves auributable 1o
owners of CPHCL

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

The Group The Company
31 December 31 Decemnber 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000
22 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000
23 170,620 142,157 2,950 2,950
261,43 249,002 263,944 269,599
452,051 411,159 286,894 292549
14.3 517,255 480,772 - -
969,306 891,931 286,894 202,549

14
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Statements of financial position - continued

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000
Liabilities
Non-current
Trade and other payables 30 27,894 10,121 240 436
Bank borrowings 25 385,609 345,006 121 207
Bonds 26 292,079 336,492 - -
Lease liabilides 13 16,479 17,943 85 116
Other financial liabilities 20 35,846 34,685 90,256 105,503
Deferred tax liabilities 29 143,996 119,763 - -
Indemnification liabilities 28 - - 17,168 17,168
Provisions 783 368 - -
Total non-current liabilides 902,686 864,378 107,870 123,430
Current
Trade and other payables 30 110,222 99,578 9,770 9,908
Bank borrowings 25 50,335 41,352 86 594
Bonds 26 44,953 10,362 - -
Lease liabilities 13 2,388 2,889 36 29
Other financial liabilities 27 5,500 91 12,990 =
Current tax liabilides 3,809 2,671 - -
Tortal current liabilities 217,207 156,943 22,882 10,531
Total liabilities 1,119,893 1,021,321 130,752 133,961
Total equity and liabilities 2,089,199 1,913,252 417,646 426,510

The financial starements on pages 11 to 127 were approved by the board of directors, authorised for issue on
30 April 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

MoussalA< Atiq Ali

Director
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Statement of changes in equity - the Group

Tatal
attributable Non
Issued Other Retained 1o owners controlling Total
capital reserves earnings of CPHCL interest equity
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Balance at 1 January 2023 20,000 135,677 253271 408,948 456,477 875,425
Comprehensive income:
Loss for the year - - (5,:482) (5,482 (5,589 (11,071}
Other comprehensive
income - 7693 - 7,693 20,094 27,787
Total comprehensive - 7693 (5,482) 2211 14505 16,716
income
Transfer 1o retained earnings 23 - (1,213) 1,213 - - -
Transactions with owners:
Dividends distributed 14.3 - - - - (210) (210
Total transactions with ) ) ) ) (210) 210)
OWners
B;;;‘“ at 31 December 20,000 142,157 249,002 411,159 480,772 891,931
Balance at 1 January 2024 20,000 142,157 249,002 411,159 480,772 891,931
Comprehensive income:
Profic for the year - - 11,409 11,409 (6,013) 5,396
Other comprehensive
income - 29.483 - 29,483 42 496 71,979
Total comprehensive . 29483 11,409 40,892 36483 77,375
income
Transfer to retained earnings 23 - {1,020) 1,020 - - -
Bal
oot 31 Recember 20,000 170,620 261,431 452,051 517,255 969,306
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Statement of changes in equity - the Company

Issued Other Rertained Total

capital reserves earnings equity

€000 €000 €000 €000

Balance at 1 January 2023 20,000 2,950 276,073 299,023
Comprehensive income;

Loss for the year - - {6,474) {6,474)

Total comprebensive income - - (6, 474) {6,474)

Balance at 31 December 2023 20,000 2,950 269,599 292,549

Balance at 1 January 2024 20,000 2,950 269,599 292,549
Comprehensive income:

Loss for the year - - {5,655) {3,055)

Total comprehensive income - - {5,655) (5,655}

Balance at 31 December 2024 20,000 2,950 263,944 286,894
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Statements of cash flows

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000
Profit/(loss) before tax 9,811 (5,254) (5,655) 6,473)
Adjusments 311 53,500 65,706 2,139 2,904
Working capital changes:
Inventories (4,429) 189 - -
Trade and other receivables (20,440) (4,674 o2 1,145
Trade and other payables 18,212 3,901 (738) {2,252)
Cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities 56,654 59,868 (3,352) (4,676)
Tax paid (2,623) (1,785) - @
Tax refund received 1,580 36 1,580 36
Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities 55,611 58,119 (1,772) (4.642)
Investing activities
Payments to acquire investment
property 11 {517) 105 - -
Payments to acquire intangible assets 10 (1,457) (1,043) - -
Payments to acquire property, plant
and equipment {72,010) (58,820 39 (12)
Proceeds from disposal of investment
praperty 11 3,021 - - -
Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL 280 3,845 280 3,342
Payments to acquire financial assets at
FVTPL - (294 - {294)
Payments for acquisidon of
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 34 - - - (2)
Loan advances to subsidiary companies - - 225 213
Loan advances to associate companies - - - 2,602
Dividends received 3,500 3,000 3,707 4,352
Tnterest received 1,576 1,251 140 95
Net cash (used in}/generated from
investing actvites (65,607) {51,956) 4,313 10,996
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Statements of cash flows - continued

Note

Financing activities

Repayments of bank borrowings

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Proceeds from issue of bonds

Repayments of shareholders’ loans

Proceeds from related party koans

Proceeds from assaciates’ loans

Payments for redemption of bonds

Bond issue costs

Bank loan arrangement fees

Principal clements of lease payments

Repayments of loans from related
parties

Interest paid

Dividend payments

Net cash (used in)/generated from
from financing activities

Net change in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of translation of group
entities to presentation currency

Cash and cash equivalents at

end of year 20

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
{25,244) (185,555) (595) (1,.291)
66,179 221,342 - -
- 30,102 - -
- - (10,000} .
- - 24 -
5,500 ; 5,500 -
(10,392) (4,110} - -
- (780) - -
(866) (2,840) - -
(3,529) (3.372) (14) (105)
(184) 2,511 - -
(44,625) (39,669} {1,714) (1,771)
- (210} - -
(13,161) 17,413 (6,799) (3,167
(23,157) 23,576 (4,258) 3,187
92,643 66,629 9,448 6,261
4,307 2,438 - -
73,793 92,643 5,190 9,448
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Notes to the financial statements

1. General information

CPHCIL Company Limited, (the ‘Company’}, is a private limired liability company incorporated and
domiciled in Malta. The address of the Cotnpany’s registered office and principal place of business is 22,
Europa Centre, Floriana FRN 1400, Malta. The Company is the nltimare parent company of the Group.

2. Nature of operations

CPHCL Company Limired and its subsidiaries’ (the ‘Group’ or *CPHCL’) principal activities include the
ownership, development and operation of hotels, leisure facilities, and other activities related to the
tourism industty and commercial centres. The Group is also actvely engaged in the provision of
residential accommodaton, project management services and induserial catering,

3. Summary of material accounting policies

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted in the preparatdon of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies have been consistendy applied to zll the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Basis of preparation

The censolidared financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU} and the
requirements of the Maltese Companies Act, (Cap.386).

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets
classified ar fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), the land and buildings class within property, plant
and equipment and investment property — which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU
requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies (see Note 4 - Critical
accounting estimates and judgements). As explained further in this note, the Group has secured
financing and taken othet measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and to enable the Group to sertle
irs shorr-rerm obligations as and when they fall due, Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis,

Going concern

Operating conditions continued to improve during 2024 as almost all operations recovered from the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2024, the Group recorded an improved operating result before
depreciation and fait value adjustments of €62.68 million after one-off preopening costs of €6.1 million,
compared to €59.82 million last year. The Group is projecting that consclidated revenue levels will
condnue to improve during 2025 and beyond, as the hotels that opened towards the end of 2024, and
the new openings come into play.

The Group’s Liquidity situation is being kept under consrant review, particulatly in view of lncreased
intetest costs and certain projects and commitments that the Group is currently engaged in.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had access to €£193.5 million, corprising €101.4 million of undrawn
committed facilides, €8.9 million of unudlised bank overdrafis and €83.2 million of cash balances. This
liquidity position enables the Group to sustain its operations as well as meet its capital commitments.
Overall, the Group’s balance sheer position remains robust,
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.1 Basis of preparation - coniinued
Going concern - continued

Accordingly, the Directors and senior management consider the going concern assumption in che
preparation of the Group’s financial starements as appropriate as at the date of authorisation for issue
of the 2024 financial statements. In their view, as at thar date, there were no material uncertaintes that
may casi significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue operating as a going concern.

The board of direcrors 2nd senior management remain vigilant on developments and will take
appropriate measures as and when necessary to ensuce the contnued viability of the Group.

Working capital position

The Group’s working capital position as at the end of December 2024 reflects a surplus of €105.19
million {2023: surplus of €2.19 million). This is largely due to the classificadon of assets held for sale in
2024. As disclosed in Note 12, in 2024, the Corinthia Lishon valued at €144 million was reclassified o
assets held for sale and is thus included with current assers. In February 2025, the Greup eniered into a
promise of sale agreement to sell a plot of land in Marsa, and this was also reclassified o assets held for
sale. The 2024 current liabilides include a bond of €45 million which is due for redemption in May 2025,
To partally refinance this bond, the Group issued a €35 million hond and has already successfully
secured the necessary funding.

Apart from the sutplus cash flows generated from the Group’s operations, the Group maintains 2 policy
of supplementing cash available for its working capital requirements with various financing inidatives
and, when market conditions permit the disposal of non-core assets. Furcher disclosures on liquidity risk
are included in Note 35.2,

3.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2024

The following amended standards become applicable for the current repordng period. The Group did
not have to change its accounting policies or make retrospective adjustments as 4 result of adopting
these amended standards.

e  Amendments to IAS 1 — classification of Liabilites as Current or Non-current and Non-current
Liabilides with Covenants
*  Amendment co IAS 7 and IFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements

3.3 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by
the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for accounting petiods
beginning 1 January 2024 and after. The Group and the Company have not early adopred these revisions
to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the directors are of the opinion that there are
no requirements that will have a possible material impact on the Group and the Company’s current or
futute repordng petiods and on foreseeable future trapsactons.
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Summary of material accounting policies - conunued
3.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entides (including strucrured entites) over which the Group has conuel. The Group
controls an endty when the Group is exposed 1o, or has rights w, variable returns from its invelvement
with the entity and has the ability te affect those returns through its power to direct the acnvinies of the
endty. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which conerol is wansferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transacdons, balances and unrealised gains on transactions hetween group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary o ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the income
statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
financial posidon respectively.

()  Associates

Associates are all entides over which the Group has significant influence but not control or jeint control.
This is generally the case where the Group holds berween 20% and 50% of the voting rights. In the
Group’s financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (i) below), after initially being recognised ar cost.

(i) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are ininally recognised ar cost and adjusted
thereafier 1o recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisidon profits or losses of the investee in profic
or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in othet comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its inrerest in the
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does nort recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations ot made payments on behalf of the other entity.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is objectve evidence thac the investment in
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of the impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to ‘share of ner loss of associates’ in the statement of comprchensive income.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrcalised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset tansferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopeed
by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the
policy described in Note 3.10.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued

3.5 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the Company’s stand-alone
financial statements

In the Company’s separate financiai statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
are accounted for by the cost method of accounting i.e. ar cost less impairment. Cost includes directdy
attribueable costs of the investment, Provisions are recorded where, in the opinion of the direcrors,
there is an impairment in value. Whete there has been an impairment in the value of an investment, it
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is identdfied. The results of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures ate reflected in the Company’s separate financial statemenrs
only to the extent of dividends receivable. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit or loss.

3.6 Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation cusrency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entiry operates (*the functional currency’).
The consolidated and company financial statemenss are presented in Euro, which is CPHCL’s functional
and presenraton cutrency.

(#)  Transactions and balanees

Foreign currency transactons are ranslated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactons and from the translation of monetary assers and labiliries denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profic or loss, They are deferred in equity if they
relate to part of the net investiment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash balances are presented in the
income statement, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement on a net basis within results from operating activides as a separate line itemn.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates ar the date when the fair value was determined. Translanon differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair valve gain or loss.

(]} Groap campanies

The resules and financial posiden of foreign operations that have 2 functional currency different from
the presenwation cutrency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

¢ assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

¢ income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income aze
uanslated at average exchange rates or a monthly weighted average rate when chere are
significant fluctuadons in the currency during the year {unless these are not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulatdve effect of the rares prevailing on the transacrion dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

e all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Summary of material accounting policies - connnued
3.6 Foreign currency translation- contnued

On consolidatdon, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign
entides are recognised in other comprehensive incorne, When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operadon are treated as assets
and liabilides of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rare.

3.7 Propeny, plant and equipment

Property, planr and equipment is initally recorded ac historical cost, Land and buildings are subsequently
shown at fair value, based on periodic valuations by professional valuers, less subsequent depreciation
for buildings. Valuations are carried out on a regular basis sucl that the carrying amount of ptoperty
does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the
reporting period. Any accumulared depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated 1o the revalued amount of the asser. All
other property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at historical cost less depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly atcributable to the acquisidon of
the items,

Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a qualifying asser are
capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capiralised while acquisition or construction is acdvely
underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the asset is substantally complete and is
suspended if the development of the asset is suspended.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised s a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable thar future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably, All other repairs and maintenance are
charged o profir or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrylng amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income and shown as a revaluadon reserve in sharcholders' equity. However, the
increase shall be recognised in profic or loss to the extent thac it reverses a revaluadon decrease of the
same asset previously recognised in profir or loss. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same
asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited againse the revalvation reserve; alf other
decreases are charged to profit or loss. In some cases each year the difference between depteciaton
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset (the depreciation chatged to profit or loss) and
depreciation based on the asset's original cost, net of any related deferred income taxes, is transferred
from the revalnation reserve to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated using the straighe-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amounts of the
assets to their residual values over their esdmated useful lives, as follows:

Years
Freehold buildings 33-150
Plant and equipment 3-20
Moot vehicles 5-6

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. Assets in the course of
construction and payments on account are not depreciated,
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.7 Property, plant and equipment - continued

The assers’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if approptiate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable (refer to Note 12). An asset’s catrying amount
is wrirten down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount. An impairmenc loss is recognised for the amount by which the asser’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  Property, plant and equipment that suffered an
impairment is reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(Gains and losses on disposais of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss. When revalued assets are disposed of, the
amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to the assets are wansferred to rewained earnings.

3.8 Investment property

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by entddes forming part of the Group is classified as investment property.  Investment
property also includes properry that is being constructed or developed for future use as invesument
property, when such idendficadon is made. Investment property principally comprises land and
buildings.

Invesunent property is measured inidally at its histotical cost, including related transacton costs and
botrowing costs. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a
qualifying investment property are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while
acquisidon or construction is actively underway. Capitalisadon of borrowing costs is ceased once the
asset 18 substandally complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended. After
initial recognition, investment property is carried ar fair value, representng open marker value
determined annually.

These fair valuatons are reviewed regulatly by a professional valuer. The fair value of investment
property generally reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions
about renral income from future leases in the light of current market condidons. The fair value also
reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expendirure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance ¢oses are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred. When parr of an investment property is replaced, the carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Changes in fair values are tecognised in profit or loss. Investment properdes are derecognised either
when they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanenty withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

If an investmenr property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment.
Its fair value at the date of the reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

If an item of propetty, plant and equipment becomes an investunent property because its use has
changed, any difference resultng between the carrying amount and the fair value of this irem at the date
of ttansfer is treated in the same way as a revaluation surplus under TAS 16.
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3.9 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwil

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in ‘Intangible assets”. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is
included within the carrying amount of the investments. Separately recognised goodwill is not amortised
but it is tested annually for impaitment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired, and is carried ac cost less accumulated impairment losses, Impairment losses
on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an eniity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the endty sold.

Goodwill is aliocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocaton is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefir from
the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are idendfied at the
lowest level at which poodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating
Segments,

(b) Brands

The brands mainly comprise the ‘Henry J. Bean's’ trademark relating to catering. The ‘Henry ]. Bean’s’
trademark was acquired from third parties, and represents the consideration paid on its acquisidosn.

The brands do not have a finite life and are measured at cost less accomulared impairment losses. The
brands are regarded as having an indefinite life, since based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the assets are expected to generate cash inflows,

(c) Other intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets, such as purchased computer software are shown at historical cost.
Customer contracts acquired in a business combinadon are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. These intangible assets have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisaton and impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relaced. All other expendimire including costs incurted in the ongoing
maintenance of software, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Intangible assers include intangibles with finite lives, which are amortised, on a straight-line basis over
their estimared useful lives. Estimated useful life is the lower of legal duration and expected useful life.
The esdmated useful lives are as follows:

Years
Brand design fee and other rights 5-10
Concessions 2-10
Operating contracts 20
Others 3
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
310 Financial instruments - contdnued

Financial instruments are recognised when the Group has become a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial instruments include investments in listed equity securides, derivative
financial instruments, loans receivable, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, interest-
bearing borrowings, loans payable and trade and other payables.

Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value including transaction costs, except for those
measured at fair value through profit or loss, for which transaction costs are recognised in profir or loss
as part of administrative and other expenses.

Trade receivables are inidally recognised at the amount of consideration thar is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value.

Derivatives are recognised initially ar fair value at the dave the derivative contract are entered into.
Directly artributable ransacion costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instrumencs are classified and measured as derailed
below.

3.10.1 Classification of financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in che following measurement categories:

¢ those to be measured subsequently at fair value (¢ither through OCI ot through profit or loss),
and
¢ those to be measured at amordsed cost.

The classificadon depends on the entiry’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity inseruments that are not held for wading, this will depend en whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of iniral recognidon to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCT).

The Group reclassifies debr investments when and only when its business medel for managing those
assets changes.

3.10.2 Recognition and derecognition of financial assets

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets ate recognised on settlement date, which is the date
on which an asset is delivered to or by the Group. Any change in fair value for the asser to be received,
is recognised between the trade date and sertlement dare in respect of assets which are carried at fair
value in accordance with the measurement rules applicable to the respective financial assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights o receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferted and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.10 Financial instruments - continued
3.10.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets - continued

Dbt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group’s and the Company’s debt
instruments principally comprise loans and advances to other undertakings and invesrments in bonds.
The Group also holds investments in mutual funds; management has assessed that such investments do
not meet the definidon of equity in accordance with IAS 32 from the issuer’s perspective since the
Group can sell its holding back to the fund in return for cash. Accordingly, these investments are
considered to be debrt instruments from the Group’s perspecrive.

There are two measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debr inscruments:

*  Amortised cost: Financial assets thar are held for collecdon of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss ansing on derecognition is recognised direcdy in profit or loss and
presented in other operating expenses together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented under net movements in credit losses on loans receivable in the income
starement,

* FVTPL: Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amordsed cost or FVOCI are measuvred
at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVIPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net within ner changes in fair value of financial assets in
the period in which it adses. The Group classified its investments in murual funds in chis category,
on the basis that such invesoments fail to meet the ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ test.

Equity instrrments

The Group subsequently measures all its financial assets in equity investments at fair value. Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the invesement, Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as investment income, when the entity’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are shown separately within net changes in Ffair
value of financial assets through profit or loss in the incorne stacement.

3.10.4 Trade receivables

Trade and other receivables comprise amounts due from customers for goods sold or services provided
in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business, if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade and other receivables are subsequenty measured at amortised cost vsing the effective interest
method, less loss allowance. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collecr the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Details about the Group’s impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance
are provided in Note 35,
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.10 Financial instruments - continued

3.10.5 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the seatement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand, deposits held at call with financial institudons, other short-tetm, highly liquid investments with
original maturides of three months or less that are readily converdble 1o known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilites in the statement of financial position, Cash and cash
equivalents are carried ar amortised costs.

3.10.6 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses the expected credit losses asseciated with its debt instruments carried at amortsed
cost on a forward-looking basis. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requites
expected hfenme losses 10 be recognised from inidal recognidon of the receivables, see Note 35.1 for
further detzils.

3.10.7 Classification, recognition and derecognition of financial liabilites

The Group’s financial liabilites, other than derivative financial instruments, are classified as financial
liabilities which ate noc at fair value through profit or loss (classified as ‘Other liabilities’) under IFRS 9.
Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised inidally at fair value, being the
fair value of consideraton received, net of transaction costs that are direcdy amriburable to the
acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. Financial liabilides held at fair value through profit or
loss would be inidally recognised at fair value through profit or loss with transaction costs expensed in
profit or loss. The Group derecognises a financial ability from its statement of financial position when
the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires.

3.10.8 Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss would be subsequently measured at fait value.
Other financial liabilides are subsequently measured at amorused cost.

3.10.9 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prier to the end of the
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilides unless
payment is not due within 12 months aficr the reporting period. They are recognised initatly ac cheir
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective inrerest method.

3.10.10 Borrowings

Borrowings are inttally recognised at fair value, net of transacton costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference berween the proceeds {net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effectve interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilides are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extenr chat it is probable that some or all of the faciliry will be drawn
down. In rhis case, the fee is deferred undl the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that soimne or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment
for liquidity setvices and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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Summary of material accounting pelicies - continued
3.10 Financial instruments - contnued
3.10.10 Borrowings - continued

Botrowings are removed from the seatement of financial positon when the obligaton specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference berween the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred o another party and the consideradon paid, including
any non-cash asset transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilides unless the Group has an uncondidonal right 1o defer
sertlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

3.10.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilides are offset and the nec amount reported in the statement of financial
posidon when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to sertle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liabiliry simultaneously,

3.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual items
of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. The cost of inventories comprises the invoice value
of goods and, in general, includes wansport and handling costs. Costs of purchased invenrory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Ner realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimarted costs necessary to make the sale.

3.12 Current and deferred tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current petiod’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities amriburable to temporary differences and to nnused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tx laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associaes
opetate and generate raxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Ir establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 10 the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences atising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilides and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilides are not recognised if they atise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from inital recognition of an asset or liability in 2
transaction other than a business combination that at the ume of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacred by the end of the reporiing petiod and are expected to apply when
the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is setded.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely chrough sale.

Deferred tax Habilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences berween the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporaty differences and it is peabable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable funre.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.12 Currems and deferred tax - contnued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset curtent tax
assets and liabiliies and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Cutrent
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has 2 legally enforceable right to offset and intends
cither to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and setde the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred rax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to itcms
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred rax assets are recognised only if it is probable thae future taxable ameounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

3.13 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warrantes and make good obligatons are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or consructive obligadon as a result of past events, it is probable that an cutflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions ate measured at the present value of management’s best esdmate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation ar the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine
the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflecis current market assessments of the dme value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

3.14 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be
confirmed only by occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain furure event not wholly
within the control of the Group; or are present obligations thar have arisen from past events but are not
recognised because it is not probable that settlement will require the outflow of economic benefits, or
because the amount of the obligadons cannoc be reliably measured. Contingent liabilides are not
recogrised in the financial statements bur are disclosed unless the probability of settlernent is remote.

3.15 Revenue recognition

Revenue includes all revenues from the ordinary business activides, Ordinary activities do not only refer
to the core business but also to other recurting sale of goods or rendering of services. Revenues are
recorded net of value added rax.

(@ Revenuoe from hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations includes revenue from accommodation, food and beverage services, and
other ancillary services. The substantial majority of services are provided to customers during their stays
in one of the Group’s hotels, and, depending on the type of booking, some services would generally be
amalgamated into one ‘contract’ (for example, bed and breakfast).

Each of the services rendered is assessed to be a distinct performance obligaton, and if applicable, the
Group allocates the transaction price to each of the services rendered to the customer on a relative basis,
based on their stand-alone selling price. Revenue from such operadons is recognised over time since
the customer benefits as the Group is performing; the majority of revenue relates to accommodation
(i-e. the amount allocated to such performance obligation is recognised over the customer’s stay at the
respective hotel).
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Sutrumaty of material accounting policies - continued
3.15 Revenue recognition - conunued
(6) Caceting, laundty and event organisadon services

The Group provides services in the catering, laundry and event organisation industry, The transaction
price comprises 2 fixed amount agreed with the respective customer. Any upfront payments are deferred
as contract liabilities, and revenue is recognised in the period that the services are provided to the
CUSTOITIC,

(¢} Project management services

The Group provides a wide range of project management services, some of which may span ovetr
multiple accounting periods. Some contracts require the provision of muldple services, and the Group
assesses whether these consdrute distinct performance obligatons in the context of the arrangement.
In any case, revenue from such performance obligadons is recognised over time, using an inpuc method
of progress to calculate the stage of completion.

The censideraton for project management services is based on the expected number of hours that the
Group expects to be required for the project to be completed. Revenue and conrract costs are
recognised over the period of the contrace, respectively, as revenue and expenses, When it is probable
that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

The stage of compledon is measured by reference to the propordon of contract costs incurred for work
performed up to the end of the reporting period in relation to the estimated total costs for the contract.
Costs incurred during the year that relate to furure activity on a contrace are excluded from contract
costs in determining the stage of compledon and are shown as contract assets.

The apgregate of the costs incurred and the profit or loss recognised on each contract is compared
against the progress billings up to the end of the reporting period. The Group presents as a contract
asset the gross amount due from customers for contract work fot ail contracts in progress for which
costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, within trade and
other receivables. The Group presents as a contract liability the gross amount due to customers for
contract work for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus
recognised profits (less recognised losses), within trade and other payables.

{d) Hotel management agreements

The Group enters into hotel management agreements with hotel property owners and under these
agreements, the Group’s performance obligation is to provide hotel management services and a license
10 us¢ Corinthia’s brand. Base and incentive management fees are typically charged. Base management
fees are typically a percentage of tocal hatel operating revenues and incentive fees are generally based on
the horel’s operating profits. Both are treated as variable consideration. Base management fees are
recognised as the underlying hotel revenues occur. Incendve management fees are recognised over ome
when it is highly probable that ¢he related performance criteria for each annual period will be mer,
provided there is no expectation of 4 subsequent reversal of the revenue. Costs incurted to enter into a
contract are expensed as incurred uniess chey are incremental in obtaining the contract.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.15 Revenue recognition - condnued
Contract assels

Amounts paid to hotel owners to secure hotel management agreements (‘key money’) are treated as
consideration payable to a customer. A contracr asser is recorded and evenrually recognised as a
deducton to revenue over the term of the contract. Contrace assets are not financial assers as they
represent amounts paid by the Group at the beginning of a contract and accordingly, are tested for
impairment based on value in use. Contract assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

3.16 Leases
3.16.1 Accounting policy where the Group is the lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to
the catrying amount of the underlying asser and recognised as expense over the lease term cn the same
basis as lease income. The respective leased assers are included in the statement of financial position
based on their nature,

3.16.2 Accounting policy where the Group is the lessee
The Group’s ieasing policy is described in Note 13,

3.17 Employee benefits

(@  Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporing
petiod and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities
are presented under trade and other payables in the statement of financial pesition.

(t) Bonus plans

The Group recognises & liability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula ¢hat takes into
consideration the profit amtzibutable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where contracrually obliged or where there is a past pracdce that has
created a constructive obligadon.

{c) Contibudons w defined conibuton pension plans

The Group conttilutes towards the State defined contribution pension plan in accordance with local
Jegislation in exchange for services rendered by employees and to which it has no commitment beyond
the payment of fixed contributions. Obligations for contributions are recognised as an employee benefit
in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.18 Government grants

Grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that all the conditions atrached 1o them are
complied with and the graats will be received. Grants relared to income are recognised in the profit or
loss over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to
compensate. Such grants are presented as part of profit or loss, by deducting them from the related
expense. Grants related to assets are deducted from the asset’s carrying amount. The accoundng policy
for grants related to assets was changed in the reporting period and no change was required in this regard
o the comparative figures.

3.19 Assets held for sale

Non-current assers (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale wansacdon rather than through continuing use and a sale 1s
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, except for assers such as deferred rax assets, asses arising from employee benefits, financial
assets and investment property that are carried at fair value.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Management makes estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment w the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. The
tesultng accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal actual results.

The fair value of property, plant and equipment and investment properdes is determined by using
valuation techniques. Further details of the judgements and assumptions made are disclosed in Note 12
to these financial statements which highlights information about the fair value estimatdon of land and
buildings and invesunent property, together with a sensitivity analysis of the effect of shifts in
unobservable inputs used in derermining these fair values,

Addidonally, the significant estimates and uncerrainties arising from the Group’s operadons in Libya
and Russia are disclosed in Note 5.

Other areas where management judgments are required include determining the lease term in relarion 1o
lease accounting are disclosed in Note 13,

Deferred tax assers are recognised for unused rax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and the level of taxable profits, together with future rax planning strategies. Additional
information on the unrecognised deferred tax assets are included in Note 29.

In the opinion of the directors, with exceptions ro those listed above, the accounting estimates and
judgements made in the course of prepating these finandial statements are nor difficult, subjective or
complex to a degree which would warrant their descripdon as crideal in terms of the requirements of
IAS 1,
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5. The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia
5.1 The Group’s operations in Libya
The Group’s investments in Libya principally comprise:

¢ The Corinthia Hotel Tripoli, a fully owned five-star hotel in Tripoli with a carrying amount of
€70.89 million (2023: €65.40 million) managed through Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited
(CTTL}, a company registered in Malta with 2 branch in Libya, owned by IHI p.l.c., 2 subsidiary
of CPHCL;

* An adjoining Commercial Centre to the above-mentioned hotel, with a carrying amount of
€86.30 million (2023: €83.26 million) also operated by CTTL;

® A site surrounding the Hotel, with a carrying amount of €29.50 million {2023: €25.50 million)
also operated by CTTL;

» The Palm City Residences, a large-scale complex in Janzour, Libya, owned by an associate
company, Mediterranean Investments Holding p.l.c. (MIH p.l.c.}, in which the CPHCL Group
holds a 50% share. The book value of this ptoperty is €272.62 million (2023: €272.57 million)
and the Group’s share of this asset and of another site owned by MIH p.lLc. in Libya is €139.63
million (2023: €139.30 million); and

¢ The development of the Medina Tower Project through IHI plc. and MIH p.lc., with the
group holding directly and indirectly a 37.5% shate amounting to €9.50 million (2023: €8.96
million).

Since 2014, Libya expetienced severe political instability due o the collapse of the central government
during the same year and the country has been going through difficult dmes ever since. A Unired
Nations-brokered ceasefire deal was reached in December 2015 and the Libyan Polirical Agreement to
form a Government of National Accord was signed. On 31 March 2016, the leaders of the new UN-
supported unity government arrived in Tripoli. In May 2018 Libya's rival leaders agreed 1o hold
parliamentary and presidential elections following a meeting in Paris. No election has been held as rival
leaders were jostling for territory. In March 2021, however, Libya’s parliament endorsed a new, unified
government, and the two previous rival governments agreed ro dissolve. This transitional government
was due to stay in power untl the end of 2021, when national presidential and legislative elections were
due to rake place. The elections were however postponed again after the head of High Nadonal Election
Commission ordered the dissolution of the electoral committees nadonwide. ‘The elecdons which were
initally scheduled for June 2022, were pushed back to the end of 2022 and later pushed back again. The
delay of national electons togerher with the confirmation of a new government cabinet by the eastern-
based House of Representatives in February 2022, has returned Libya to a state of institurdonal division
with two parallel povernment administrations in the East and Wesr.

Encouragingly in March 2024, the speaker of the eastern based House of Representatives and the head
of the western based High Council of State met in Egypt and agreed to unify sovereign positions
stressing Libya's sovereipnty, independence and territorial inregrity and rejecting any foreign intervention
thar affects the Libyan political process negatively. Despite this concerted effort towards resolving the
political crises, tangible progress remained limited and the proposed elections remaining indefinitely
postponed.

35



CPHCL Company Limited
Report and Financial Staternents 31 December 2024

The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.1 The Group’s operadons in Libya - contdnued

‘The state of economic uncertainty that continued o prevail during the financial year ended 31 December
2024 condnues to impact negatively the Libyan hospirality and real esrare sectors which in turn impacis
the Group’s financial results in Libya. Having stated the above, it should be noted that the turncver
registered during 2024 by Cotinthia Towers Tripoli Limited amounts to €14.74 million (2023: €11.86
million) representing 4.23% (2023: 4.12%) of the Group’s Revenue. Occupzncy was at 41.98% in 2024
versus 18.18% in 2023, and Profic before tax amounted to €13.70 million after recognizing a fair value
gain of €3.04 million on the investument preperty and an impairment reversal of €6.48 million on the
hotel (2023: profit before tax of €10.90 million after recognising a fair value gain of €7.92 million on the
investment property). Current year’s revenue includes €5.33 million (2023: €7.45 million) generated from
rental contracts attributable to the Commercial Centre that remained in full operation throughour since
s opening, generating a steady income from the lease of commercial offices within the Centre to
internavional blue-chip companies. The existence of long-term leases has midgated the impact of the
continued polirical instability and state of uncertainty on the Commercial Centre. The Commercial
Centre remained fully leased ourt in 2024.

Whilst the Commercial Centre continued to generawe positve net contributions as in previous years, the
year ended 2024 saw the horel also closing with a positive net operatonal financial result of €2.75 million
{2023: loss of €0.50 million) mainly due to increased occupancy. Management’s objectdve for the hotel
is to contnue to build on the positive results achieved and to ensure that payroll and other operating
costs are managed in the context of reduced operaiing income levels, At the same time, however, the
company continues to invest in maintenance and security costs 1o ensute that the hotel is kept in a
pristine condition o allow it to benefit from increased revenues once the situation improves,

There were no major changes during the last year when it comes to the significant economic and political
uncertainty prevailing in Libya. This renders fair valuadon of property assets situated in Libya, by
reference wo projected cash flows from operating the asset or to market sales prices, extremely difficult
and judgmental. Nevertheless, the operating performance of the assets in Libya improved during the
current year when compared to last year,

The Palm City Residences, operated through an associate company in which the Group owns a 50%
share, continued to perform resolutely during the year under review, despite the unstable polidcal
sttuation. The closing occupancy in December 2024 was 61.1% (2023: 58.0%). Palm Ciry Residences
enjoyed 13.8% higher revenues compared to 2023 through both higher average rates and higher
occupancy levels. Operadng costs and other expenses were retained at relatively low levels. Company
operating profit amounted to €21.47 million (2023: operating profit of €19.41 million). The company
registered a profit after tax of €13.46 million compared to €12.57 million in 2023.

The exposures emanating from the Group’s activities in Libya are summarised in the table below:

Carrying amount Carrying amount
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
€000 €000
Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited
Property, plant and equipment 70,9 65.4
Investment praperty 115.8 1128
Inventorics 21 1.9
Trade receivables, net of provisions 1.7 0.5
Mediterranean Investments Holding p.lc.
Share of net assets 102.0 99.0
Medina Tower [.5.C.
Investment in associate accounted for
using the equity method of accounting 9.5 9.0
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The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.1 The Group’s operations in Libya - contnued

The furure performance of the Hotel, the Commercial Centre and other operadons referred to above,
together with the fair value of the related and other property assers situated in Libya are lfargely
dependent on how soon the politcal situaton in Libya will return to normality and on how quickly the
internatonal oil and gas industry recovers once polidcal risks subside.

In assessing the value of the Hotel, the Directors recognise the improvements regiscered in 2024, despite
the political outlook not changing significantly over the past twelve months. The Directors also recognise
the interest registered from a pumber of sources for short and long-term accommedation, but have
rerained the expectations of a gradual recovery for the Hotel. Hotel occupancy rares in the inidal months
of 2025 are encouraging and occupancy levels of 46% have been reached. As a result, the results of the
valuation assessment supporting the carrying amount of the Hotel in Libya showed a substantal head
room, with the Directors acting prudenty, only recognising a partial uplifc of €6.48 million,

In the case of the Commercial Cenrre, the valuadon takes into account the consistent cashflows based
on long-term agreements. An uvplift in the carrying amount of €3.04 million was recognised during the
cutrent year (2023: an uplift of €7,92 million),

The Group’s investment property also includes a site surrounding the Horel, with no determined
cominercial use, having a carrying amount of €29.50 million as at 31 December 2024, which is unchanged
from the carrying amount as at 31 December 2023,

Further information on the key assumptons and judgements undetlying the valuation of the property
assets is disclosed in Note 12, together with an analysis of sensidvity of the valuations ro shifts or changes
in the key parameters reflected.

The fair value of Palm City Residences as at 31 December 2024, carried out by the Directors of Palm
City Limited, was detetmined by discounting the forecast furure cash flows generated for the remaining
period of 47 years of the Build-Operate-Transfer agreement signed berween CPHCL Company Limired
and Palm City Limited. In the previcus reporting period, a valuation exercise was carried out by the
directors ta determine the fair value of the investment properry, and a composite pre-tax discount rate
of 9.6% in real terms was applied to the projected cash flows. The resulant valuation in 2023 reflected
an increase in the carrying value of €6.02 million, which the directors, acting prudently, opted not to
recognise in the reporting pericd. During the current reporting petiod, another exercise was carried out
by the Directors to determine the fair value of the investment property. The valuation arrived at was a
result of specific premiums being applied including country risk, property risk and projection zisk
premium. The composite pre-tax discount rate udlised for the year under review is 9.7% in real terms.
The resultant valuation in 2023 reflected an increase in the catrying value of €6.94 million which the
ditectors opted not to recognise in this reporting period. This takes into consideration the prevailing
political uncertainty in the counrry.

In view of the prevailing circumstances in Libya, The Medina Tower Project owned by an associate of
the Group has slowed down considerably. The key assets within this company as at 31 December 2024
held in Libyan Dinar comptise the project site carried at LYD 133.4 million equivalent to €26.1 million
{2023: LYD 127.00 million equivalent to €24.12 million), and Euro denominared cash balances
amounting to €7.64 million (2023: €7.35 million). The carrying amount of invesument held by the Group
in this project amounts t© €9.50 million (2023: €8.96 million),

At this point in dme, different scenarios in terms of the future political landscape in Libya are plausible,
which scenarios, negative and positive, could significantly influence the timing and amount of projected
cash flows and the availability of property market sales price information. The impact of these different
plausible scenatios on the operating and financial performance of the Horel, Commercial Centre and
Palm City Residences, and on the fair valuation of the related property assers would accordingly vary in
a significant manner,
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The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.1 The Group’s operations in Libya - continued

It is somewhat difficult to predict when the political situation in the country will start stabilising and
forecastng the timing of any economic recovery in Libya is judgemental. Past experience has shown
that, because of the keen interest by the intetnational oil and gas industry to return to Libya, the Group's
performance in respect of its operatons in Libya is likely to recover quickly once the situaton in the
country improves in a meaningful manner.

5.2 The Group’s operations in Russia
The Group’s invesuments in Russia principally comptise:

» The Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg, a fully owned five-star hotel in St. Perersburg with a carrving
amount of €36.95 million (2023: €53.46 million} managed through Corinthia Hotels Limited a
subsidiary of IHI p.l.c.

¢  An adjoining Commercial Centre to the above-mentoned hotel, with a cartying amount of
€36.83 million (2023: €38.32 nillion} operated by IHI Benelux B.V., a subsidiary of THI p.lc,;
and

¢ A 10% equity invesmment in Lizar Heldings Limited, a hotel and residential development in
Moscow, having a carrying amount of €0.03 million (2023: €0.03 million).

In February 2022, a military conflict erupted between Russia and Ukraine with consequendal
internadonal sanctions being imposed on Russia. The situation regarding these sanctions and counter-
sanctions imposed by Russia itself continues w evolve. Despite the various diplomatic efforts and
significant international involvement, the situaton surrounding the conflict remains volatle with
evolving dynamics, shifting geopoliteal alliances and adjusuments to sancdons on both sides. The
consequences of these sanctdons on the group as well as their future effects on operational income are
difficult to determine and depend on the duration of this conflict and the evolving geopolitical landscape.
The Group has engaged internadonal legal advisers 1o assist in managing the challenges atising from
such sanctions.

The geopolitical situation between Russia and the west resulted in a drop in international business,
Nevertheless, the horel still increased occupancy levels duting the year over 2023 in view of the local
trade that the hotel always enjoyed.

Both the hotel and the Commercial Centre have remained operational sinee the eruption of the conflici.
The wrnover registered during 2024 by IHI Benelux BV and Cerinthia St. Petersburg LLC amounts to
€17.80 million (2023: €14.22 million) representing 5.80% (2023: 4.94%) of the Group’s Revenue, with a
profit before tax (net of intra group eliminations) of €8.56 million after registering a fair value gain of
€1.01 million on the investment property (2023: profit before tax of €1.67 million). Current year’s
revenue includes €3.64 million (2023: €2.28 million) generated from rental contracts attriburable 1o the
Commercial Centre.

Management’s objective for the hotel and the Commercial Centre is 1o continue to build on the local
trade and to ensure that payroll and other operating costs are managed in the context of the reduced
operating income levels. At the same time, the company condnues to invest in maintenance to ensure
that the hotel is kept in a pristine condition to allow it to benefit from increased revenues once the
situation improves and international teavelers return.
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5.

The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.2 The Group’s operations in Russia - continued

The exposuges emanating from the Group’s activides in Russia are summarised in the rable below:

Carrying amount Carrying amount
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
€m €m
THI Benelux BV
Property, plant and equipment 56.9 53.5
Investment property 36.8 38.3
Inventories 0.6 0.6
Trade receivables, net of provisions 0.5 0.3
Mosecow project
Invesmnent and loans 6.4 6.1

The future petformance of the Hotel, the Commercial Centre and other operations referred wo above,
together with the fair value of the telated and other property assets situated in Russia are largely
dependent on how soon the economic and political siruaton in and around Russia will return 1o
normality and on how quickly international sancaons are lifted.

In assessing the value of the Hotel, the Directors recognise the cutrent geo-political situation and the
implicatons on the valuation assessment carried out by professional valuers. This valuation includes a
higher element of uncertainty. Nevertheless, and as a consequence of the strong local trade, the careying
amount of the hotel increased by €8.30 million before a negative transladon difference of €3.40 million
in 2024 (2023: nil). Similarly, 2 fait value gain of €1.01 million on the Commercial Centre was reported
in the income staterent (2023: fair value loss of €1.71 million). The transladon effect on the Comimercial
Centre amounted to a reduction of €2.50 million.

In view of the prevailing circumstances in Russia, the Moscow hotel project owned by an associate of
the Group was suspended.

It is somewhat difficult to predict when the polidcal situadon in the country will stare srabilising and
forecasting the tming of any economic recovery in Russia is judgmental. Considering the central and
strategic location of the horel and Commercial Centre, the Group's performance in respect of its
operations in Russia is likely to recover quickly once the situaton in the country improves in a
meaningful manner.

39



CPHCL Company Limited
Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2024

Revenue and expenses
6.1 Revenne

The Group’s revenues split by category, are disclosed below:

The Group

2024 2023

€000 €000

Hotel operations 288,395 276,706
Rental income 31,852 28,129
Catering 27,088 26,602
Project management 10,204 8,047
Laundry and dry cleaning 5,259 4,392
Event organisatdon 3,587 3,280
Others 4,185 1,289
Management company revenue 35,258 28,775
Elimination of intra group revenues (57,168) (50,927)

348,660 326,893

The Company’s revenue is mainly detived from dividend income and an element of management fees.

Contract assets and contract liabilities with respect to the Group’s revenue from contracts are disclosed
in Notes 18 and 30 respectively.

6.2 Expenses by nature

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Directors’ fees 170 170 - -
Management fees - - 550 550
Food, beverage and other direct costs 3,386 31,161 - -
Professional fees (excluding audit fees) 8,803 6,187 185 189
Energy costs 14,708 15,407 5 4
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 12) 26,802 26,806 7 8
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Nore 13) 2,715 2,673 40 17
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 10) 930 613 - -
Personnel expenses (Note 7) 116,523 103,185 2,516 2,333
Property taxes 4,872 4,620 - -
Reprairs and maintenance 9,039 0,369 - -
Movemeat in impairment losses 451 611 - 275

The Group's Directors” remuneradon charged in profit or loss in 2024 amounted to €1.62 million (2023:
£2.19 million). Directors' remuneradon for the Company charged in profit or loss in 2024 amounted to
€0.71 million {2023: €0.77 million).
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Revenue and expenses - continued
6.3 Auditor’s fees

Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial years ended 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 including fees charged by other network firms are shown in the table below.

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Annual statutory audit 1,192 998 125 117
Tax compliance and advisory services 74 45 - -
Ohther non-audit services 109 115 - 26
1,375 1,158 125 143

Fees charged by the parent company audiror for services rendered during the financial years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 to the Group relating 1o annual scawtory audit amounted to €0.59 million
(2023: €0.54 million). Fees charged by connecred undertakings of the company’s parent auditor to the
Group relating to tax compliance and advisory fees amounted to €0.18 million (2023: €0.16 million).

Personnel expenses

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Wages and salaries 99,236 39,818 2,347 2,200
Social secutity conerbutons 10,136 8,463 53 45
Other staff costs 7,151 4,904 114 90
116,523 103,185 2,516 2,335

In addition to the amounts shown in the above table, the Group also incurred outscurced labour costs

amounting to €18.43 million (2023: €16.72 million).

The average number of employees is as follows:

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
No. No. No. Neo.
Management and administrative 821 826 ]| 28
Operating 2,532 2,444 12 14
3,353 3,270 43 42
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Finance income and finance costs

Finance ihcome;

Interest income on loans to subsidiaries
Interest income on loans to associates
Interest income on bank balances
Interest income on loans to investee

Othets

Total finance income

Finance costs:

Interest expense on bank borrowings
Interest expense on bonds in issue
Enterest expense on shareholders” loans
Interest expense on subsidiaries’ loans
Interest expense on associates' loans
[nterest expense on lease liabilides
Bond issue and other financing costs
Ner exchange differences

Othets

Total finance costs

Tax expense

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €600
- - 1,148 919
- 77 - 77
743 269 81 5
243 242 - -
590 663 59 90
1,576 1,251 1,288 1,001
27,319 23,179 14 36
15,633 14,696 - -
1,386 1,336 1,222 1,336
- - 3,841 3,688
69 - 69 -
1,031 1,076 8 3
1,347 1,026 - -
2,075 2,037 - -
1,120 1,198 123 127
49,980 44,548 5,277 5,192

The (charges)/credits for income tax on (losses)/profits derived from local and foreign operations have

been calculated at the applicable tax rates.

Current taxaton:
- Current year tax
- Adjustment recognised in financial

period for curtent tax of prior period

Deferred raxarion:
- Deferred tax expense
- Adjustment recognised in financial

period for deferred tax of prior period

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
(3,722) (513} - {1)
(425) (5,3100 - -
{268} 6 - -
(4,415) (5,817) - {1}

Refer to Note 29 for informadon on the deferred tax assets and liabilides.
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Tax expense - continued

9.1 Tax expense reconciliation

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Profit/(loss) before income rax expense 9,811 (5,254) (5,655) (6,473)
9,811 (5,254) (5,655) (6,473)
Income tax using the Company’s domestc
tax rate at 35% (3,434) 1,839 1,979 2,265
Effect of income/(losses) subject to
foreign/ different tax rates 4,795 (1,641} 361 (417)
Effect of reduction in tax rate on opening
deferred tax assets (280) 93 - -
Non-taxable income 263 327 15 61
Non-tax deductble expenses (1,630) (2,014) (1,795) {2,481}
Movement in unrecognised deferred rax (3,845) (5,357) (560} 571
Adjoustments in respect of previous years
taxes (2,561) 76 - -
Effect of Group’s share of profit and loss
attributable to investments accounted for
using the equity method 2,331 2,226 - -
Qther (54} (1,306) - -
Tax expense (4,415) (3.817) - )

The tax impacts which are entirely attributable to defetred taxadon, relating to compenents of other
cornprehensive income, are as follows:

2024 2023
Tax
Before (charge)/ Netof — Before Tax  Netof
tax credit tax tax  charge tax

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Group

Net surplus arising on
revaluarion of hotel properdes 74,394 (17,478) 56,916 58,999  (15,283) 43,716

Hedging (148) 33 (115) - - -
Currency rransladon differences 13,325 1,947 15,272 (19,687) 3,701  (15,980)
Other - (602) {602) - - -

87,571 (16,1000 71,971 39,312 (11,582 27,730
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10.  Intangible assets

The Group
Brand
design
fee and
other Con- Operating
Goodwill Brand rights cessions  COMUACHS Others Total
£000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Cost
At ] January 2023 8,316 - 9,169 470 7,000 3,256 28211
Additions - - 35 - - 1,008 1,043
Disposals - - {1 - - - (1)
Exchange differences - - i 3 - - 6
At 31 December 2023 8,316 - 9,204 475 7,000 4,264 29,259
At 1 January 2024 8316 - 9,204 475 7,000 4,264 29,259
Addidens - 606 12 - - 820 1,438
Disposals - - - - - (223) (225
Exchange differences - 19 2 (1) - 1 22
At 31 December 2024 8,316 625 9,218 474 7,000 4,862 30,496
Amortisation
Act January 2023 766 - 8,260 470 5,808 3,174 19,178
Amorrisation charge - - 25 - 350 238 613
Disposals - - {1 - - - {1
Exchange differences - - 1 5 - - 6
At 31 December 2023 766 - 8,985 475 6,158 3412 19,796
Ar 1 January 2024 766 - 8,985 475 5,158 3412 19,796
Amortisation charge - - 22 - 350 607 980
Disposals - - - . - (223 (223}
Exchange differences - - 2 (1 - 1 2
At 31 December 2024 766 - 9,009 474 6,508 3,797 20,555
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2023 1,550 - 209 - 1,192 82 0,033
At 31 December 2023 1,550 - 219 - 842 852 0,463
At 31 December 2024 7,550 625 209 - 492 1,065 9,941
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10.

Intangible assets - continued

Goodwill

The acquisition of CaterMax Limited and Malta Fairs and Conventons Centre Limited in 2016 gave rise
to goodwill amounting to €0.78 million, artributable to synergies expected between the acquired business
and the Group’s previously owned business line operating within CaterMax’s sector.

In 2015, IEI p.lc. had acquired the IHGH Group. The goodwill arising on this major acquisition was
of €1.40 million. The goodwill is arributable to cost synergies.

During the year 2021, the Group acquired the remaining 50% holding in Golden Sands Resort Limited.
This gave rise to a goodwill of €5.41 million.

Relative to the Group’s total asset base, the goodwill arising on these acquisiions are not material o
warrant the disclosures thar would have otherwise been required by IAS 36.

Brand design fees and other rights
The Group has franchise agreements with Costa Internatonal Limited to develop and operate the Costa
Coffee brand in the Maltese Islands. This intangible arises from the acquisiton of the IHGH Group in

2015. The toral amount of brand design fees and orher rights recognised on acquisidon amounted to
€2.6 million.

Costa Coffee Malia

This cash-generating unit includes the operation of the Costa Coffee recall brand in Malta, As at 31
December 2024 the Group operated fifteen outlets (2023: thirteen) each enjoying a strategic locaton in
areas popular for retail operations. The carrying amount of the Brand design fees and other rights for
Costa Coffee Malta amounted o €0.05 million (2023: €0.05 million).

Henry [. Bean's

This cash-generating unit includes the operation of the Henty J. Bean’s wrademark. The righes, dtle and
interest in this trademark were acquired in quarter 2 of 2024 at a cost of €0.1 million.

The Surrey

The Group acquired 50% of the title, rights and interest in The Surrey trademark during the curtent year
for an amount of €0.5 million.

Operating contracts

These conoacts represent the assumed value artributable to the operation of howl properties which
arose on the re-acquisition of 30% shareholding of Cotinthia Hotels Lirited (CHL’),

Others

Other intangible assets represent website development costs and licenses.

The goodwill, brands and operating contracts were subject to an internal impairment assessment on the
basis that these intangibles comprise one cash-generadng unit, The indicarve valuation is based on the

discounted cash flows derived from hotel operadng projections as prepared by specialists in hotel
consulting, and confirm that no impairment charge is required as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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10,

1.

Intangible assets - continued

The discounted cash flow calculation was determined by discounting the forecast future post-tax cash
flows generated by CHL for a ten-year explicic period 2025 ~ 2034, followed by a terminal-value (also
refer to Note 3.1). The following are the key assumptions underlying the projections:

® revenue from cxisung and signed management agreernents is based on revenue projections
from currenidy operating hotels and forecast revenue from hotels expected to starr operaung
shortly. This revenue accounts for ¢. 74% of the total revenue in the explicic period;

® sevenue from unconfitmed hotel management agreements is based on revenue projectons
from hotels which are not yet announced or signed as at 31 December 2024, but are expected
to be achieved in the short to medium rerm (by 2032). This revenue accounts for ¢. 26% of the
toral revenue in the explicit period;

¢ subsequent to the ten-year projection period, revenue is assumed to grow at a rate of 2% p.a.
in perpetuity; and

* g post-tax discount rate of 10.6% was applied to the post-tax free cash flows of CHL,

Investment propetty

The Group The Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

€000 €000 €000 €000
At 1 January 179,377 185,624 820 820
Net fair value gains 11,584 6,423 - -
Addidgons 517 2,235 - -
Disposals (3,021) - - -
Transfer from/(w) property, plant and
equipment (Note 12) 03,7177 {2,340} - -
Transfer to assets held for sale (18,342) - - -
Currency uansladon differences (2,441) (12,565) - -
At 31 December 261,451 179,377 820 820

During the current year, the property in Prague, with a carrying amount of €93.78 million, was transferred
from property, plant and equipment following the leasing out of the hotel to a third parry. The 2024 figure
also includes an amount of €0.2 million transferred to property, plant and equipment. In 2023, a similar
transfer from investment property to property, plant and equipment, amountng to €2.3 million relating
to Craven House, as additonal parts of this office block were being used by the Group.

The transfer to assets held for sale relates to the apartment block in Lisbon and the plot of land in Marsa.
The apartments were put on the market in 2024 with a number of them being sold during the year and
the remaining being transferred to assets held for sale as disclosed in note 21. The group also entered into
a promise of sale agreement to dispose of the plot of land in Marsa in February 2025,

The Group’s investment properties are valued annually on 31 December at fair value by independent
professionally qualified valuers having appropriate recognised professional qualificadons and experience
in rhe location and category of the property being valued.
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1i.

Investment property - continued

The cacrying amount of the investment propertes is analysed as follows:

The Group

2024 2023
€000 €000

Investment property
Commercial Centre in St Petersburg - Russia 36,829 38,314
Commercial Centre in Tripoli - Libya 86,300 83,260
Apartment block in Lisbon - 6,386
Site in Tripoli - Libya 29,500 29,500
Houel in Prague 96,563 -
Site in Marsa - Malta - 9,636
Site in Konopiste - Czech Republic 7,533 7,673
Site in Misurata - Libya 87 87
Amber Hotels - Czech Republic 339 345
Office block - London 4,300 4,174
261,451 179,377

Disclosures required in terms of IFRS 13 in relaton to fair value measurements artributable to
invesunent property are presented in Nowe 12.1.

a) Investment properties with a carrying amount of €216.66 million (2023: €126.57 million) are
hypothecated in favour of bankers as collateral for general banking facilities and loans granted to
the Group.

b)  Rental income earned by the Group from investment property amounted to €13.45 million {2023
£€10.13 million) while direct expenses amounted ro €2.60 million (2023: €2.27 million).

¢)  Direct operatng expenses in relation to investment properties that did not generate rental income
amounted to €0.23 million {2023: £0.10 million).

d) All investment propetty is leased out under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease
payments for some contracts include Consumer Price Index (CPI) increases. Where considered
necessary 1o reduce credit risk, the Group may obmin bank guarantees for the term of the lease.

The minimum lease payments receivable in accordance with IFRS 16 are as follows:

The Group

2024 2023

€000 €'000

Within 1 year 14,554 7,556
Between 1 and 2 years 14,094 6,359
Berween 2 and 3 years 12,875 5,821
Between 3 and 4 years 11,320 4,691
Between 4 and 5 years 3,173 3,224
Lacer than 5 years - 702
56,016 28,353

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of the current leases, the
Group typically entets into new operating leases and therefore will not immediately realise any reduction
in residual value at the end of these leases. Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in
the fair value of the properties.
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12.  Property, plant and equipment

The Group
Assets in the
Land and Plant and Motor course of
buildings equipment vehicles  construction Total
€00 €000 €000 €000 €000

Cost/valuation
Balance at | January 2023 1,480,967 312,526 2273 83,945 1,879,711
Revaluation surplus 66,999 . - - 646,909
Revaluaton adjustment* 446 - - - (44,216)
Additions 4,013 8,275 33 45,990 58,317
Reallocations 453 1,230 - £1,683) .
Disposals (48) (2,088) 27 (1,729 (3,892)
Transfer from invesoment praperty (Note 11) 2340 - - - 2340
Other movenents - - - (1,405} (1,405)
Impairments - 223 - - 222
Currency wansladon differences (53200 (1,385) 4 ¥)] (37 (6,759
Balance at 31 December 2023 1,504,488 318,780 2,262 125,087 1,950,617
Balance at | January 2024 1,504,488 318,780 2262 125,087 1,950,617
Revaluation sueplus 74,394 - - - 74,394
Revaluaton adjustment® (34,017} . " . (34,017}
Additions 20,727 6,041 42 53,291 80,101
Reallocations 1,880 5,760 - (7,640 -
Disposals . (1.613) 277 (662) (2,552}
Transfer to investment property (Note 11) {134,867) (4,863) - 54 {139,784}
Transfer 10 assets held for sale (Note 213 {132,377} (50,966} {160 {389 (183,892
Diher movements - - - {115 (115
Currency translation differences 20,049 4,363 {1} 1™ 24,002
Balance at 31 December 2024 1,320,277 277,502 1,366 169,709 1,769,354
Depreciadon and impairment charges
Balance ar 1 Januasy 2023 305,403 273,028 2,179 - 580,610
Depreciation for the year 17,693 9,046 67 . 26,806
Net impairment Losscs 7,725 - - - 7,725
Revaluation adjustment* {44,910) - - . HN6
Disposal adjustments 20 {1,961} {22) - (2,003}
Currency translation differences 121 {1,277 {16 - (1,172}
Balance at 1 December 2023 286,006 278 836 2208 - 567,050
Balance at 1 January 2024 286,006 278,836 2208 . 567,050
Depreciadon for the year 17,437 9,209 64 - 26,802
Net impairment losses 6,329 - - - {6,320
Revaluation adjustmenct {34,017 - - - (34,017}
Reallocations (307} 310 (3} - -
Transfer to investment property (Note 11) (41,348) (4,647 - (1 {46,007}
Transfer 1o assers held for sale (Note 21) - (39.747) {156} - {39,903}
Dispasal adjustments - {1,377 (264} - {1,641}
Currency translation differences (1,110 4,038 - - 2928
Balance at 31 December 2024 220,322 246,112 1,851 (12) 468,883
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2023 1,175,564 39,408 94 83,945 1,299,101
At 31 December 2023 1,218,482 39,944 54 125,087 1,383,567
At 31 December 2024 1,099,945 30,790 18 169,721 1,300,471

* Revaluation adjustments relate to the cumulative depreciarion eliminared against the cost upon revaluation
of the property duting the current year.
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Property, plant and equipment - continued

Changes in fait value during 2024 in respect of the Group’s propertes, amounting to €74.4 million have
been recognised within other comprehensive income. These fair vatue movements relate to an uplift on
the Corinthia Hotel Lisbon, Corinthia Hotel London, Golden 8ands Resort Hotel, Corinthia Qasis and
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg, and a fair value loss on the Corinchia Hotel Budapest, Thermal Hotel
Aquincurn and Ramada Plaza Tunis. In 2023, changes in fair value in respect of the Group’s properties
amounting to €59.0 million have been recognised within other comprehensive income, These fair value
movements relate to an uplift to Corinthia Hotel London, Corinthia Hotel St. George’s, Baypoint Hotel,
Marina Herel, Golden Sands Resort Hotel and Corinthia Hotel Lisbon, and a fair value loss on the
Corinthia Hotel Budapest.

An amount of €6.5 million was also recognised in the profit and loss account in relation to animpairment
reversal on the Corinthia Hotel Tripoli. This was pardally offset by an impairment of €0.2 million on the
office block in London. In 2023 an uplift of €0,28 million had been recognized for che same office
block in London.

The Company
Land and Plant and Motor
buildings equipment vehicles Total
€000 €000 €000 €000

Cost/Valuation
Balance at t January 2023 968 8,206 1,179 10,353
Additions - 13 - 13
Balance at 31 December 2023 968 8,219 1,179 10,366
Balance at 1 Jarmary 2024 968 8,219 1,179 10,366
Addidons - 39 - K
Balance at 31 December 2024 968 8,258 1,179 10,405
Depreciation and impairment charges
Balance at 1 January 2023 848 8,191 1,179 10,218
Depreciation for the year 1 7 - 8
Balance ac 31 December 2023 349 8,198 1,179 10,226
Balance at 1 January 2024 849 8,198 1,179 10,226
Depreciadon for the year 1 6 - 7
Balance ar 31 December 2024 850 8,204 1,179 10,233
Carrying amounts
Ac1 January 2023 120 15 - 135
Ar 31 December 2023 119 21 - 140
At 31 December 2024 118 54 - 172
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Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuation of property

The valuadons reflected in the statement of financial posidon ac reporting date take inte account
conditions existing at year end and do not reflect any subsequent developments,

In 2024, the directors appointed independent professionally qualified property valuers having
approptiate recognised professicnal qualificadons and the necessary experience. Where a valuaticn
resulted in an amount thac was significantly different than the carrying amount of the respective property,
the bock value of the property was adjusted as ac the respective year end date, as the directors had
reviewed the carrying amount of the properties on the basis of assessments by the property valuers.

In addition to the revaluadons carried cut on hotel properties, the Group’s investment properties are
measured at fair value on an annual basis as required by 1AS 40.

The resultant shift in value, net of applicable deferred income taxes, was reflected within the revaluaden
teserve in shareholders’ equity (note 23) or in profit or loss in accordance with the Group’s accountng
policies. Adjustments to the caerying amounts of the properties are disclosed in the tables below.

The Group is required to analyse non-financial assers carried ac fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy within which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised in their endtety (Level 1,
2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined as fair value measurements
using:

®  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markees for identical assets (Level 1);

* Inpuis other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either
directly {that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, detived from prices} (Level 2);

¢ Inpucs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

{Level 3).

The Group’s land and buildings, within property, plant and equipment, consist principally of hotel and
other properties that are owned and managed by companies forming part of the Group. The Group 5
investment property comprises property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
ot both. The main investment properties are the Commercial Centre in St Petersburg, the Commercial
Centre in Tripoli, a site forming part of the grounds of the Corinthia Hotel in Tripoli, the hotel in Prague
as from the second quarter of 2024, site in Konopiste and an office block in London. All the recurring
property fair value measurements as at 31 Decemnber 2024 and 2023 use significant unchservable inputs
and are accordingly categorised within Level 3 of the fair valuation hierarchy,

‘The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and our of fair value hierarchy levels as of the beginning
of the reporting period. There were no transfers berween different levels of the fair value hierarchy
during the current and preceding financial years.

A reconciliatdon from the opening balance 10 the closing balance of property for recurring fair value
measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, for the current and preceding
financial years, is reflected in the table above and in Note 11 for investment property.
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Property, plant and equipment - contintued
12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued
Valuation processes

The valuations of the properties age performed regularly for property, plant and equipment and annually
for investment property on the basis of valuation teports prepared by third party qualified valuers, These
reports are based on both:

* informadon provided by the Group which is derived from the respective subsidiary’s financial
systems and is subject to the subsidiaty’s overall control envitonment; and

& assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers; with assumpdons being cypically marker
related and based on professional judgement and marker observation.

The information provided to the valuers, together with the assumptions and the valuation models used
by the valuers, are reviewed by designated officers within the Group. This includes a review of fair value
movements over the period. When the designated officers considet that the valuation report is
appropriate, the valuation report is recommended to the Audit Commirttee and Board of Directors. The
Commirtee and Board then consider the valuation report as part of dheir overall responsibilities.

Valuation techniques

The external valuations of the Level 3 property as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, have been performed
using a muld-criceria approach, with every property being valued utlising the valuation technique
considered by the external valuer to be the most appropriate for the respective property.

In view of a limited number of similar or comparable properties and propetty transactons, comprising
sales or rentals in the respective market in which the properties are located, the valuations have been
petformed using unobservable inputs. The significant inputs to the approaches used are generally those
described below:

¢ Income capitalisation or discounted cash flow (“DCF”) approach: considers the free cash flows
arising from the projected income streams expected to be derived from the operation of the
ptopetty, discounted to present value using an estimate of the weighted average cost of capital
that would be available 10 finance such an operadon. The significant unobservable inputs
vtilised wich this rechnique include:

Operating results before based on projected income streams less operating expenditure
depreciation and fair value necessary to operate the property, but prior to depreciation and
gains/ (losses) financing chatges;

Growth rate based on management’s estrnaced average growth of EBITDA levels,

mainly determined by projected growth in income streams;

Discount rate reflecting the current marker assessment of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of projected cash flows. The discount rate reflects
the estimated weighted average cost of capital that would be available
for financing such an operaton., The discount rate 1s based on an
assumed debt to equity rado; estimation of cost of equity is based on
tisk free interest rates adjusted for counwy risk and equity risk
premium adjusted for entity-specific risk factor; estimation of cost of
debt is based on risk free interest rates adjusted for country risk and
assumned credit spread;
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12. Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued

Valuation processes - continued

Capitalisation rate mainly a function of the WACC rate and taking into consideration the
assurned stabilised growth rate for the remaining life of the asset.

e  Adjusted sales comparson approach: a sales price per square metre related to transactions in
comparable propertes located in proximity 1o the tespectve property, with significant
adjustrments for differences in the size, age, exact location and condition of the property.

The table below includes informaton abour fair value measurements of hotel properties (classified
within property, plant and equipment) and invesunent propertdes using significant unobservable inpuss
(Level 3). Forhotel properties, where, following management’s assessment ot an independent valuation,
the fair value of the respective property did not differ materially from its carrying amounr as at year-end,
the fair value inpurs disclosed for that respective properey ate those that were used in the last valuation
that gave rise w a revaluadon.
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12, Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued

Valuation techniques - continued

Informadon abour fair value measurements using significant uncbservable inpurs (Level 3) as ar 31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect of the key propertics:

Fair value at
3 3l
Dieg Dec
Descriptign by clags haged on W24 123
highest and best use €400 €000 Significant unobservable inputs
Current use as hotel/other Valuation technique - Income capitalisation approach (DCF)
propertics
{classificd as property, Evolution of EBITDA aver initial projected Pre-1ax Capitalisation
plant and equipment): five-year period rate (WACC) Growth rate ratg
2024 2023 2024 2023 24 2023 2024 20123
Y% Y % Yo T Wa
Corinthia Hotel & SPA FY24-FY28
Lishon* - 11e0m - E95m - €10.7m - 10053 - 2,00 - 833
Corinthia Hatel Y24 FY2g
Prapue** - 87,080 - €4.7m - €7.0m - 9,44 - 2.00 - Tk
Marina Horel, St. Geotpe's FYZ25-FY29 Y24 FFYz8
Bay, Malta 34,239 34,800 €2.6m - €2.8m £2.7m - €3.0m 9.98 10.47 200 2.0 7.98 847
Corinthia [orcl, $t. FY25-FY29 FY24IY28
George’s Bay, Malta 55,562 56,0354 £3.9m - €4.2m £4.5m - €4.9m 9.27 10,54 2.00 .08 7.27 8.54
Connthia Hotel St FY25.FY2e FY24-FY28
Perersburg 56,945 53,458 RUBG56.5m — RUBS1%.7m RUB45%im — RUBS66.4m 14.25 13.30 4.50 4.(HI 0.75 0.30
FYZRFY29 1Y24-FY2%
Cornthia Hotel Tripoli 70,888 05,400 £2.9m - €6.3m (€0.4im} - £2.0m 15.64 14.14 20 2 13.60 1214
Ratlisson Blu Resort, FY25.FY29 FYy24-FYz8
Malea 45,059 46,000 €3.7m - €4.0m €3.5m - €4.0m 10.66 10,51 200 2.00 8.66 351

*Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon was transferred 1o assets held for sale as disclosed in Note 21

**Corinthia Hotel Prague was transferred (o investment property as disclosed in Note 11
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12. Property, plant and equipment - contdnued

12,1 Fair valuation of property - continved

Valuation techniques - continued

Description by class hased an

fiighest apd best use

Currenc use as hotel properties

(classificd as property,
plant and equipment);

Cornthia Hoxel
Landon

Corinthia Grand Hoiel
Astoria, Brussels

IHI Falace Hotel

Company Limited

Gelden Sands Resort
Malta

Corinchia Hotel
Budapest

Aquincum Hotel
Budapest

Ramada Plaza
Tunis

Oflice block in Lomdon

Codnthin Oasis Malta

Fair value at
i k)|
Dec Dec
2024 2023
€000 KK
580,001 336,218
124,700 82,118
31,223 31,482
91,001 68,000
112,600 116,025
17,819 20,638
13,616 14,308
7575 7,160
48,200 30,817

2024

FY25-FY29
£23.2m - £28.9m

€13k - €2.7m

FYZ5-F¥Y29
~£0.4m = €3.2m

FYZ5.FY29
€5.4m - €6.9m

FY25-Fy28
£6.3m - €8.9m

FYZ25-FY2e
£0.3m - €0.9m

FY25-Fy29
€1.0m - €£1.7Tm

£11,854

€595

Significant unobaervable inputs

Valuation technique - Income eapitalisation approach (DCF)
Evolution of EBITDA over initial projected

five-year period
2023

FY24e-FY 28
£200m - £25.52m

Y24 7Y 28
€01m - €3.7m
FY2-FY2S
“«4.3m - €6.5m
FY24.FY2E
€5.3m - E10.0m
FY2a.17Y28
E02m - €1.1m
FY24.FY28
€lm - €1L.4n

Pre-tax
tate (WACC)
2024 20623
%o L
7.90 8.60
T.00
1.60 10.20
9.31 10039
0.48 1002
5,85 2.25
13.65 13.61

2024
Ya

12.50-1

2,736-3

2.00

2.00

2,00

2.00

2.00

Valuation technique - Adjusted sales-comparison appreach

Sales price per square meter
£11,508

Growth tute
2023
Y

200

2.00

200

2.00

2,00

200

Capicalisation
rate

2024 2023
% U
4.00 4.00
4.25 -
2.60 .20
.3 8.39
748 8.02
7.85 723
16.65 1161
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12. Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued

Valuation techniques - continued

Fair value a1

31 3
Dec Dec
Description by class based on 2024 2023
highest and best use €000 CHRMY Signiflcant unubservable inputs
Current property for Valuation technique - Income capitalisation approach (DCF)
commercial use (classificd as Evalution of EBITDA over initial projected Pre-tax Capitalisation
investment property): five-year period rate (WACC) Growth rate Rate
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
'fo ofﬂ oﬂrﬂ g’:) 'yo an"
Comemercial Cenure in FYZ5-FY29 FY24 Y28
%t Petersbury 36,829 38316 RUBS1.1m - RUB466.8m RUBT7,1m - RUB320.0in 13.62 1233 4.00 4.0 9.62. 8.5
Commercial Centre in FY25-FY29 Fr24-Fyas
Topoli £6,300 #3,260 €4.6tm - €6.3m €4.5m - €3.8m 7.72 7.63 @.00 000 7.72 7.63
Corinthia Hotel FY25.FY29
Prague* 96,563 - €5.5m - €4.0m 8.43 - 200 - 6.43 -
Current property for Valuation technique — Adjusted sales-comparison approach
commercial use (classified as Sales price per square meter
investment property): 2024 2023
Apartment block in Jisbon - 6,386 - ER.833
Site in Marsa** - 2.636 €700 E70R
Site in Tripoli 29,500 29,500 €2,300 €2,300
Site in Czech Republic 7,586 7,673 €94 €
Oifice block in London 4,300 4,173 £11,854 £11,508

*Corinthia Hotel Prague was tansfersed to invesuncnt property as disclosed in Note 11
** Site in Marsa was transferred o assets held for sale as disclosed in Note 21
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Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valvation of property - contnued

In relation to the DCF approach, an increase in the projected level of operating results before
depreciation and fair value and growth rate would result in an increased fair value of the property,
wheteas a higher discount rate would give rise to a lower fair value. Wirh respecr to the adjusted sales
comparison approach, the higher the sales price per square mesre, the higher the resultant fair valuation.

During the current year, the Group recognized a significant fair value uplift in respect to Corinthia Hotel
Lishon using a marker value approach (refer also to note 21). Fair value increases were also recognised
for, Corinthiz Hotel London, Golden Sands Resort Hotel, Corinthia Oasis and Corinthia Hotel St.
Petersburg, against a fair value loss on the Corinthia Hotel Budapest, Ramada Plaza Tunis and Thermal
Hotel Aquincam. In 2023, uplifis were recognised for Corindhia Hotel London, Corinthia St. George’s
Bay, Baypoint Hotel, Marina Hotel, Golden Sands Resort Hotel and Corinthia Hotel Lisbon against fair
value losses recognised in Corinthia Hotel Budapest, Ramada Plaza Tunis and Thermal Hotel Aquincum.
The shift in the carrying amounts of the Corinthia Horel St. Perersburg and Corinthia Hotel London in
2024 and 2023 were also affected by translating the financial posidon of the respective subsidiaries that
own these properties from their funcoonal currencies (RUB and GBP respectively) into the Group’s
presentation currency {(EUR) at year end.

As evidenced in the tables above, the highest and best use of the Group properties is equivalent to their
current use as at 31 December 2024.

As explained in Note 5 to the financial statements, the fumre performance of the Group’s hotels and
the Commercial Centres situated in Tripoli and Russia and rhe fair value of the related property assets
are largely dependent on how scon the political and economical situadon in Libya and the geopolidcal
situation between Russia and the west will return to normality and on how quickly the internatienal oil
and gas industry recovers and how soon international sanctions are lifeed once political tisks subside. In
assessing the fair value of both the Trpoli and Russia properties, the Directors recognise the
improvements registered in 2024, the interest registered from a number of sources for short and long-
term accommodation and the strong local trade in Russia.
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12,

Property, plant and equipment - contdnued

12.1 Fair valuation of property - contnued

The senstovity of the property valuadons to possible shifts in key assumptions is illustraeed in the table

below:
Shift in discount rate Shift in cash flows
+/-1%) (+/-1%) (EBITDA) (+/-5.00%)
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Cotinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon* - -12,145 to - +/- 5957
+15,357
Corinthis Hotel Budapest -13,076 to -12,912 to +/- 5,627 +/- 5,801
+17.111 +16,599
Corinthia Hotel Prague -11,515 to -10,300 o +/- 4,515 +/- 4,399
+15,757 +13,501
Marina Hotel, St Geotge’s Bay, 23,695 to0 -3,551 to +/- 1,722 +/- 1,740
Malta +4,753 +4,501
Corinthia Hotel, $t George’s Bay, -6,526 1o -5,672 to +/- 2,791 +/-2,802
Malta +8,606 +7,175
Ceorinthia Hotel, St Petersburg -4574 w0 45,591  -50741w0 +6,308  +/- 2,847 +/-2,673
Corinthia Hotel Tripoli -6,553 o +7,718 7,910 t0 +9,557 +/- 3,545 +/- 3,246
Commercial Cenure in 5t Petersburg  -3,623 o +4,4753  -4,265 ro +3,442 +/- 1,841 +/- 1,911
Cotmercial Centre in Tripoli -11,515 o 10,460 to +/- 4,315 +/- 4,163
+15,757 +13,722
Radisson Blu Resort, Malta -4,495 10 -4,667 to +/- 2258 +/-2,300
+5,668 +5,909
Corinthia Hotel London -47,990 1o +/-7987 +/-29565 +/- 8,170
+43,601
THI Palace Hotel Company Limited -2.802 10 +3,475 -4,449 t0 +5,712  +/- 1,173 +/-1,574
Golden Sands Resort, Malta -10,61t 1o 7,611 o +/-4,500 +/- 3,400
+13.972 +9.677
Corinthia Grand Hotel Astoria, -11,854 10 - +/-6,799 -
Brussels +10,749
Aquincum Horel Budapest -1,168 to +1,509  -1,700 o +2,200 +/-513 +/- 657
Ramada Plaza Tunis Hotel -1.244 1o +1,525  -1,100 to +1,400 +/- 681 +/- 717

12.2 Historic cost basis of properties

If the cost model had been used, the carrying amounts of the revalued properiies would be €766.11
million {2023: €977.18 million). The revalued amounts include a revaluation surplus of €153.69 million
after tax (2023: €126.58 million), which is not available for distribution to the shareholders of CPHCL.

12.3 Use as collateral

All tangible fixed assers owned by the Group, except for the Corinthia Hotel and Commercial Centre in
St. Petersburg, the Corinthia Oasis land, the BCM plant and underlying land in Benghasir, Libya, the land
in Misurata, Libya, and the Konopiste property in the Czech Republic, are hypothecated in favour of the
Group’s bankers as collateral for amounts borrowed as stated in Note 25. The Corinthia Hotel Budapest
is hypothecated in favour of 2 bond as stated in Note 26.
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Leases

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee, For leases where the Group is a
lessor, see Note 11,

1, Amounts r ised in smarement of financial posig

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Right-of-use assets :
Land and buildings 14,144 15,830 - -
Plant and equipment 1,550 2127 - -
Motor vehicles 729 671 116 142
16,423 18,628 116 142
Lease liabilities
Cutrent 2,388 2,889 k1 29
Non-current 16,479 17,943 85 116
18,367 20,832 i21 145

Additions to the Group’s and the Company’s right-of-use assers during the 2024 financial year were
€0.99 million (2023: €6.01 million) and €0.01 million {2023: €0.11 million) respectively. Movement during
the year also includes €0.59 million in relation to disposals and other movements.

i, Amounts recognised in the income starement

The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases:

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets
Land and buildings 1,905 1,870 - -
Plant and equipment 585 602 - -
Motor vehicles 225 201 40 17
2,715 2,673 40 17

Interest expense {included in
finance cost) 1,031 1,074 8 5
Expense relatng to variable
lease payments not included
in lease labilites {included in
administrative expenses) 519 596 - -
Expenses relating to shott-
term leases and low-value
assets {included in
administrative expenses) 422 208 N 81
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13.

Leases - continued

i. Amounis recognised jn the income statement - continued

'The toral cash outflow for leases in 2024 was €4.51 million (2023; €4.08 million) for the Group and €0.15
million {2023: €0,11 million) for the Company.

ili. ‘The Group’s leasin ivites and how these are acconnred for

The Group leases various offices, land, retail oudets, plant and equipment and motor vehicles.
Emphyteuocal grants from the government pernining to land on which the Group’s Malta hotel
properdes are built are typically made for fixed periods of up 10 99 years. Other contracts are made for
periods up to 12 years and may include extension options as described furthet below. The Company’s
leases pertain to offices used for administration purposes, retail stores and motor vehicles and are
typically made for periods of up to 9 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenanrs other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and labilites arising from a lease are initally measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

s fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

»  variable lease payments that are based on an index ot 2 rate, inidally measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date
amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees, and
the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably cerrain to exercise that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicir in the lease. If that rate cannot be
teadily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have o pay to borrow the funds necessary 1o
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, secutity and conditions.

To determine the inctemental borrowing rate, the Group uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was teceived, and for other items specific 1o the leased asser.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in varable lease payments based on an index or rare,
which are not included in the lease liability undl they take effect. When adjustments ic lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use
asset,

Lease payments ate allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged w profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.
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13,

Leases - contnued

iii. The Group’s leasing acovites and how these are accounted for - condnued

Righe-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measutement of lease
liability. Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land
and buildings thac are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the
right-of-use assets attributable to land and buildings held by the Group.

Paymencs associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

iv. Variable lease payments

Variable payment texms are used for a variety of reasons including minimising the fixed costs base for
newly established stores.

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales generated from retail stores,
and which range from 10.00% to 24.50% of sales. An increase of €1.00 million in sales per store in the
Group with such vatiable lease contracts would increase variable lease payments by approximately €0.10
million {12.60%).

Orther property leases contain variable payment terms thar are linked to sales generated from catering
establishments, Variable payment on such leases range from 15.00% 1o 25.00% of sales. An increase of
€1.0C million in sales per catering establishment in the Group with such variable lease contracts would
increase total lease payments by approximately €0.21 million (21.00%).

The variable lease payments element amounts to €0.50 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: €0.60 million). Variable lease paymenrs that depend on sales are excluded from the measurement
of the lease liability and are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that wiggers
those payments occurs.
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14,

Leases - condnued

v. Extension and tenmination options

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and eqmpment Icases across
the Group. These are used o maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assers used in
the Group’s operations.

Jrdgements in determrining the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incenuve ro exercise an extension opton, of not exercise a rezmination opdon. Extension optdons (ot
periods after termination options) are only included in the lease rerm if the lease is reasonably certain o
be extended (or not terminated).

For leases of retail outlets, the following factors ars normally the most relevant:

¢ If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain 1o extend {or not terminate).

* If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group is
typically reasonably cermin to extend {or not terminate).

*  Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease duradons and the costs
and business disruption required 1o teplace the leased asset,

Most extension opdons in offices and motor vehicles leases have not been included in the lease liability,
because the Group could replace the assers withour significant cost or business disruption.

Investments in subsidiaries

The amounts stated in the statement of financial position of the Company are analysed as follows:

2024 2023

€000 €000

Equity in subsidiacy companies 344,543 346,444
Loans to subsidiary companies 4,466 4,215
349,009 350,659
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - condnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaies

The Group had the following subsidiaties as at 31 December:

Subsidiary
company

Quoted

Internaronal Hotel
Invesunents p.l.c.

(IHI p.le)
Unquoted

16 Craven House

Limited
Afina Ag

Alfa Investimentos
Turisticos Lda

Amber Hotels s.r.o.

Bay Point Hotel

Limited

Bay Point

Collection Limited

Repistered

22, Europa Centre, Flotiana,

10 Whitehall Place, London
SW1A 28D, UK

c/o TreuhandBaar AG,
Miihlegasse 12a,

Avenida Columbana Bordalo
Pinheiro, 105,
Lisboa 1099-031, Portugal

Milevska 7, Prague 4,
Czech Republic

22, Euwropa Cenue, Flotana,

First Name House, Victoria
Residence, Douglas,
Isle of Man

Nature of
business

Investment
company

Property owner

Investment
comparny

Hotel owner
and operator

Hoetel owner
and operartor

Hotel owner
and operatot

Vacation
ownership
compaiy

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directy by the Group

2024 2023

% o

58 58

58 58

100 100

58 58

100 100

58 58

58 58

Percentage of ownership  Percentage of ownership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

and veting rights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
%o Yo
58 58
100 100

2024
%

42

42

42

42

42

2023
Yo

42

a2

42

42

42
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14, Investrments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - congrnued

Subsidiary
company

Benghasir
Concrete

Manufacturing

Joint Stock
Company

Benghasir for
Constructon
Company

Catering
Contractors
Limited*

CaterMax
Limited

Comox
Enterprises
Litnired

Registered
office

Airport Highway,
Tripoli, Libya

Souk Al Thulatha Al
Gadirn,
Tripoli, Libya

22, Europa Centre,

Flotiana, Malta

22, Europa Cenire,
Floriana, Malta

MNature of
bhusiness

Non-cading
company

Non-trading

company

Non-trading
company

Event catering

Agiou Nicolau, 41-49 Investment
Nimeli Court, Egkomi company

PC2408, Nicosia
Cyprus

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

%o %o

100 100

20 20

- 100

58 58

100 100

Petcentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
% Yo
10 10
- 100
100 100

*Catering Contractors Limited was put into liquidadion in 2022 and was struck off on 5 January 2024.

Percentage of ownership and

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests
2024 2023
Yo %
10 10
42 42
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14, Invesitments in subsidiaries - contnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary

company

Corinthia Hozels
Limired

Cotinthia Hotels
(UK) Limited

CHL US Parent, Inc

CHL Surtey, Inc

Cornthia Hotels
Holdings s.r.l.

Corinthia Hotels
(Maldives) Private
Limited

Registered
office

1, Europa Centre,
Floriana, Maltg

Corinthia Hotel London,

Whitehall Place, London
SW1A 28D

251, Little Falls Drive
Wilmington, New Castle
Delaware DE 19808
United Statcs

251, Lictle Falls Drive
Wilmington, New Caste
Delaware DE 19808
United Srates

Nature of
business

Hotel
management
company

Management
consultancy
services

Investment
company

Harel
management
compaty

8, Piazza 1) San Silvestro, Holding

Rome CAP 00187, Italy

#02-01, Millenia Tower
10, Ameer Ahmed Magu
Male’, 20026

Republic of the Maldives

company

Hotel
management
company

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

Yo %%

58 58

58 58

58 38

58 58

58 58

58 58

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
n/EI D/D

Percentage of ownership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2024
%
42

42

12

42

42

42

2023
%
42

42

42

42

42

42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - contnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary

company

CHL Hotels Brussels
s.tl.

Corinthia Parlamento
s.rl.

Corinthia Caterers
Limited

Corinthia Company
Limited

CPHCL Construction
{Overseas) Limitcd

Corinthia
Developments
International Limiced

CPHCL Finance p.lc.

Corinthia Holdings
Overseas Limited

Bezermer Limited

Registered

office

Rue Royale, 103
1000, Brussels
Belgium

Narture of
business

Hotel
management
company

8, Piazza Di San Silvestro, Rome Hotel

CAP 00187, Ttaly

22, BEuropa Centre, Floriana,
Malta

22, Evropa Centre, Floriana,
Malta

22, Europa Centre, Flofiana,
Malea

22, Eutopa Centre, Floriana,
Malea

22, Europa Centre, Floriana,
Malta

22, Europa Cenure, Flotiana,
Malta

Nerine Chambers,
PO Box 905, Road Town,
Tortola, BVI

management
company

Event catering

Investment
company
Non-trading
company

Project
management

Investment
company
Investment
company
Holding

company

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

u/ll O/D

58 58

58 58

58 58

58 58

100 100

58 58

100 100

100 100

58 53

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
Yo %
160 100
140 100
100 100

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held by
non-controlling intcrests

2024 2023
v, %
42 42
42 42
4z 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary
company

CPHCL Investments
(UK) Limited

Registered
office

1, Brentham House
43c High Street
Hampron Wick
Kingston-Upon-
Thames, Surrey, UK

Corinthia (Malea) Seaff 22, Europa Centre,

Services Limited

CPHCL, Holdings
Lirnited

CPHCL Panorama

5.r.0.

Floriana, Malta

22, Europa Centse,
Fioriana, Malta

Milevska 7, Praguc 4
Czech Republic

Nature of
business

Invesament
company

Holding
company

Investment
company

Hotel operator

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

“/‘D q/{l

100 100

58 58

100 100

100 100

Percentage of ownership

Percentage of ownership and

and voting rights held voting rights held by non-
directly by the Company controlling interests
2024 2023 2024 2023
Yo Y Yo Yo
100 100 - -
- - 42 42
100 100 - -
100 100 - -
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14. TInvestmenas in subsidiaries - condnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary

company

Corinthia Services
Limited

Corinthia Towers

Tripoli Limired

Corinthia Hotels
Management DMCC

Corinthia Tunisie sarl

Summerday Turizm

Yatirimlari Ticaret a.s.

CPHCL Invesonents
Limired

Registered Nature of
office business
34, Place de 7 Non-trading
November 1987, COMpAny
Tunis, Tunisia

22, Europa Cenrre, Hotel &
Floriana, Malta Commercial

Centre owner
and operator

Unit No. AG-13-H- Hotel

121, AG Tower, Plot management
No. JLT-PH1-11A,  company
Jumeirah Lakes

Towets, Dubai,

United Arab Emirates

Les Cotes de Carthage Non-trading
Ghammarth, Tunisia company

Tayvareci Ethem Hotel owner
Sokzk No.24 Kat4

Daire 13, 80090

Gumussuyu Istanbul

Turkey

Investment
COmpany

22, Burcpa Cenrre,
Floriana, Malta

Percentage of ownership

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

%a Yo

100 160

58 58

58 38

100 100

100 100

100 100

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
% b5
100 100
100 100
100 100

Petcentage of ownership and

voting righits held by non-
controlling interests
2024 2023
% %
42 42
42 42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - condnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary
company

Registered
office

Nature of
business

Percentage of ownership

Percentage of ownership

Danish Bakery Limited 22, Europa Centre, Industrial
Floriana, Malta bakery

operations
D.X. Design 22, BEuropa Centre, Project
Consultancy Limited Floriana, Malta management

Five Star Hoeels Limited 22, Europa Centre, Hotel owner
Floriana, Malta and operator

Golden Sands Resort The Radisson SAS  Hotel owner
Limited Golden Sands Resortand operator
& Spa
(olden Bay
/o Mellicha, Malta
Quality Talent Limited 22, Europa Centre, Consultancy
(formerly Recruinment & Floriana, Malta services
Qualiry Talenr Limited)
Hotel Astoria SA Rue Rovale, 103 Owns and
1000, Brussels operates
Belgium Corinthia
Brussels
House of Catering for ~ Souk Al Thulatha Al Non-trading
Catering Services Co. Gadim company

Limnited Tripoli, Libya

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

% Yo

65 65

58 58

58 58

58 58

100 100

29 29

100 100

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
Y %
65 65
100 100
10 10

Percentage of ownership and

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests
2024 2023
n/l] O/ll
35 35
42 42
42 42
42 42
71 71
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - condnued
14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary Registered Nature of
company office business

IHT Holdings Limited 34, Kosti Palama  Invesument company
1096, Aspelia Coutt

4% Floor, Office D4

Nicosia, Cyprus

Erzseber Krt, 43-49 Hotel owner and
H-1073 Budapest  opcrator

Hungary

22, Europa Centre, Investment company
Fioriana, Maita

IHI Hungary Zrt

IHI Lishor Limited

IHI Palace Hotel Company 22, Europa Centre, Hortel owner and

Limited Floriana, Malta operator

THI 5¢ Petersburg LLC 57, Nevskij Prospect Hotel and
St Petersburg Commercial Centre
191025, Russian operator
Federation

IHI Towers s.x.o Kongresova 1655/1 Hotel owner and
1406/69 Praha4  operator

Czech Republic

Percentage of ownership  Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
directly by the Company

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

% %o

58 58

58 58

58 58

58 58

58 58

58 58

2024
Yo

2023
%

Pcreentage of ownership
voting rights held by non-

controlling interests
2024 2023
% o
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
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14, Investments in subsidiaries - condnued

14,1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary Registered Nature of Percentage of ownership  Percentage of ownership  Percentage of ownership and
company office business and voting rights held and voting rights held voting rights held by non-
directly by the Group directly by the Company controlling interests
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
% %o Yo E) % %o
IHI Zagreb d.d. Centar Kaptol Investment 58 58 - - ' 42 42

Nova Kes 11, 10000 company
Zagreb, Croatia

IHI Benelux B.V. Kingsfordweg 131  Hotel and 58 58 - - 42 42
1043 GR Commercial
Amsterdam Centre owner
The Netherlands

International Operating  Souk Al Thulatha  Non-trading 100 100 1 10 - -

and Managing Facilides Al Gadim Tripoli,  company
Fsrablishments Limited Libya
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14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary

company

Island Resorts

International Lirnited

Konopiste Property

Holding s.1.0.

Litwa Hotels &
Development
Investments |.5.C.

Malta TFairs and

Conventions Centre
Litnited (MFCC Litmited)

Marina San Gorg Limited

Marsa Invesonents
Limited
Misurata Holdings
Limnited

Registered
office

First Name House
Victoria Residence

Douglas, lsle of Man

Milevska 1695/7
Prague 4
Crzech Republic

Benghazi, Libya

Millenium Stand
Level 1, Natonal
Stadium

Ta’ Qali, Attard

22, Europa Centre,
Floriana, Malta
22, Buropa Centre,
Floriana, Malta

22, Buropa Centre,
Flotiana, Malea

Nature of
business

Invesement
company

Hotel owner

Hotel project
OWINer

T'rade conference
and leisure
conventons

Hotel owner and
Operator

Owner of land
held for sale
Non-trading
company

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024 2023

%% %o

58 58

100 100

32 32

100 100

58 58

130 100

100 100

Percentage of ownership

and voting tights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
Yo %
100 100
100 100
100 100

Percentage of ownership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2024
Yo

42

68

42

2023

Yo

42

68

42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - contnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary Registered Nature of
company office business
NLI Holdings Limited CTV House Parent company of a
La Pouquelaye group that owns and
St Helier operates the Corinthia
Jetsey Heotel London and 10
Whitehall Place in
London, UK
NLI Flotels Limited ~ CTV House Hotel owner
La Pouquelaye
St Helier
Jetsey
NLI Operator Limited Corinthia Hote] ~ Hotel operator
London, Whitchall
Place, London
SW1A 28D

NLI Brussels Limited 22, Europa Centue, Holding company
Floriana, Malta

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
ditectly by the Group

2024
%

29

29

29

29

2023
Yo

29

29

29

29

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held

direcdy by the Company
2024 2023
%o %

Percentage of ownership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2024
%

71

71

71

71

2023
Y

71

71

71

7
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14. Investments in subsidiaties - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - condnued

Subsidiary

company

Palm Waterfront
Development Limiced

Palm Waterfront J.5.C.
QPM Africa Limited

QPM Belgium SPRL

QPM Limited

Right Structures Limired**

Seciete De Prometon
Horteliere Khamsa

Medi International Lirmited

Registered Narture of
office business

22, Europa Centre, Non-trading company
Flotiana, Malia

Tripoli, Libya
22, Europa Centre, Nen-trading company
Floriana, Malta

Invesunent company

Avenue de Project management
Tervoeren 168/18  services

1150 Woluwe-Saint

Pierre, Brussels

Belgium

22, Furopa Centre, Project management
Floriana, Malta SECVICES

22, Furopa Centre, Non-trading company
Floriana, Malta

Les Cotes de Hozel owner and
Carthage Operator

Gammatth, Tunisia

Level 1, Palm Grove Internal financing
House

Wickham’s Cay 1

Road Town, Tottola

British Virgin Islands

Percentage of ownership Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2024
Yo

100

100
58

58

58

100

58

2023

%
100

100
58

58

58

100

100

58

**+ Right Seructures Limited was put into liquidadon in 2022 and was struck off on 5 January 2024

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2024 2023
Ya Yo
100 100
5 5
63 63

Percentage of ownership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2024
Yo

42

42

42

42

2023
Yo

42

42

42

42
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14. Investments in subsidiaties - continued
14.1 Principal subsidiaries - contnued

Subsidiary Registered
company office

Swan Laundry and Dry 22, Europa Cenrre,
Cleaning Company Floriana, Malta
Limited
The Coffce Company 22, Europa Centre,
Malta Limited Flotiana, Malta
Corinthia Oasis Company 22, Europa Centte,
Limited Floriana, Malta
Thermal Hetel Aquincum Arpad Fejedelem
Rt Uta 94, H-1036
Budapest Hungary
Verdi Hospitality Limited 1, Europa Centre,
Floriana, Malta

Nature of
busiticss

Industrial laundry

operadons

Franchise retail
catering

Property owner

Hotel owner and
opetator

Hotel management
company

Percentage of ownership Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held and voting rights held
directly by the Group  directly by the Company

. 2024 2023 2024 2023
Yo % % Yo

100 100 100 100

58 58 - -

58 58 - -

100 100 - -

58 58 - -

Percentage of ownership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2024
%

42

42

42

2023
%

42

42

42

74



CPHCL Company Limited
Repott and Financial Statements 31 December 2024

14.

Investments in subsidiaries - continued
14.1 Principal subsidiardies - continued
All subsidiary underrakings are included in the consolidation.

14,2 Movements in investment in subsidiaries

The Company

€000
inv ents in subsidiaries

At 1 January 2023 350,643
Acquisiton 2
Impairment on equity investments {4,201)
At 31 December 2023 346,444
At 1 Janmary 2024 346,444
Impairmere on equiry invesmments {1,901}
At 31 December 2024 344,543

All investments were purchased by the Company at the nominal value of shares received ie, at par,
except for Corinthia Construcdon {Overseas) Limited which was acquired for €3.40 million.

Dbt investments in swbsidiaries

The Company effected additinnal advances to its subsidiaries which are considered to be a component
of the long-term investment, The net advances amounted to €0.25 million which principally relate to
Konopiste Property Holdings s.r.o.. {2023: €0.16 million primarily to Amber Horels s.r.o0.)

14.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controiling interests

The Group includes rwo subsidiaries, Danish Bakery Limited and International Hotel Investments p.l.c.
(IHI Group), with material non-controlling interests (NCI):

Name of subsidiary Preportion of ownership
interest and voting Profit/(loss)
rights held by NCI allocated to NCI Accumulated NCI
2624 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Yo Yo €000 €000 €000 €000
Danish Bakery Limited 35 35 133 135 1,298 1,173
IHI Group (incl, NLI
Group) 42 42 (6,138) 5,724y 515,959 479,601

Dividends paid to NCI of Danish Bakery Limited were ml (2023: €0.21 million) whilst no dividends
were paid to NCI from Intemational Hotel Investments p.l.c. in 2024 and 2023,

The total nen-controlling interests as at 31 December 2024 is €517.26 milhion (2023: €480.78 million),
of which €515.96 million (2023: €479.61 million) is attributable to the THI Group and €1.30 million
{2023: €1.17 million) is artributable to Danish Bakery Limired.
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14,

Investments in subsidiaries - condnued

14.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests - continued

Summarised financial information for Danish Bakery Limited, the IHI Group (including the NLI
Group}, and separately, the NLI Group, before intragroup eliminations, is set out below:

Non-cuttent assets
Current asscts

Toral assets

Non-curtent liabilities
Current labilides

Toial liabilites

Equity attriburable to owners
of CPHCL

Non-controlling intcrests

Danish Bakery IHI Group NLI Group
Limited
{including NILI
Group)

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
2,067 2,156 1,645,935 1,617,595 718,764 633,108
3,937 3309 296,742 150,741 54,146 48,838
6,004 5465 1,942,677 1,768,336 772,910 081,946
(98) (3) (B4D,641) (787,583) (244,727) (186,438}
(2,087) (2,046) (19L,660) (144,405) (55,374)  (48,619)
(2,185) (2,049) (1,032,301) (931,988) (300,101} (235,057)
2,482 2220 3%4417 356,747 137,115 129,598
1,337 1,196 515,959 479,601 335,694 317291
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14.

Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests - continued

Danish Bakery THI Group NLI Group
{including NLI Graup)
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Revenue 7,358 6,834 306,788 287,773 96,570 92,605
Profit/(loss) for the year
atiributable to owners
of the parent 248 250 4,892 (5,579} (3,269) (546
Profit/{loss) for the year
attributable to NCI 133 135 (6,138) (5,724 (8,003) {1,337
Profit/ (loss) for the 381 385 (1,246) (11,303) (11,272) (1,883
year

Other comprehensive

income attribuaable to

owners of the parent - - 32,778 9.673 10,786 7.557
Other comprehensive

income attributable

to NCI - - 42,496 20,086 26,400 18,503

Other comprehensive
income for the year - - 75,274 29,759 37,192 26,060

Total comprehensive

income for the year

artributable to owners

of the parenct 248 250 37,670 4 094 7,517 7.011
Total comprehensive

income for the year
atrributable to NCI 133 135 36,358 14,362 18,403 17,166

Total comprehensive
income for the year 381 385 74,028 18,456 25,920 24177
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14.

Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.3 Subsidizaries with material non-controlling interests - continued

Danish Bakery IHI Group NLI Group
Limited (including NLI Group)
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
£000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Net cash generared from
operating activities 961 805 53,070 57,521 7,938 22,135
Net cash used in
investing actvities (332) (459) (68,017) {54,066y  (45,869) (35,714)
Net cash {used
in}/generated from
financing acdvites - (600 (5,067) 19,180 15,195 20,100
Net cash
inflow/ (cutflow) 629 (254)  (20,014) 22,035 (18,736) 6,521

14.4 Impairment allowances

The carrying amount of the investment and loan in/to Corinthia Tunisie Satl, Catering Contractors
Limited, Corinthia Holdings Overseas Limited, Corinthia Palace Holdings Limited and Societe de
Promotion Horeliere Khamsa had been impaired in ptior years, During 2024, impaitments of €1.90
million were recognised with respect to the invesmiments in Sodete de Promotion Hoteliere Khamsa
and Amber Hotels s.r.0. There has been no impairment in the carrying values of the other investments.
Investments in associates and joint ventusres

15.1 Investments accounted for using the equity method - Group

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

The Group
2024 2023
€000 €000
Associates (Note 15.3) 111,920 108,103
At 31 December 111,920 108,103
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15.

Investments in associates and joint ventures - continued
15.1 Investments accounted for using the equity method - Group - continued

The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement are as follows:

The Group

2024 2023

€000 €000
Associates (Note 15.3.1) 6,834 6,360
For the year ended 31 December 6,834 6,360

The amounts recognised in the consolidated other comprehensive income are as follows:

The Group
2024 2023
€000 €060
Associates (Note 15.3.1) 489 57
For the year ended 31 December 489 57

15.2 Investments in associates using cost model - Company
The amounts recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position are as follows:

The Company

2024 2023
€000 €000
Associates - at 31 December (Note 15.3} 24,002 24,002

15.3 Investments in associates

The amounis stated in the statement of financial position of the Group and Company are analysed as
follows:

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Equity in associate companies (Note 15.3.1) 108,624 104,788 24,002 24,002
Loans to associate companies 3,296 3,313 - -

111,920 108,103 24,002 24,002
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15. Investments in associates and joint ventutes - continued
15.3 Investments in associates - condnued

15.3.1 Equity in associate companies

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 £000
At 1 January 104,788 101,377 24,002 24,002
Share of results 6,334 6,360 - -
Share of other comprehensive income 489 57 - -
Dividend (3,500) (3,000) - -
Orher movements 13 ()] - -
At 31 Decernber 108,624 104,788 24,002 24,002

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, The
associares sted below have share capiial consisting solely of ordinary shares,

Company name Registered office  Nature % of ownership interest held by
of business The Group The Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

Yo % Yo %o

B.C.\. Limited 3, Princess Elizabeth Non-trading 33 33 33 33
Tetrace, Ta” Xbiex  company
Malta
Café Jubilee Zrt 1055 Budapest Non-trading 50 50 50 50
Szent Istvan ket 13 company
Hungary
Crust Foods Limited 22, Europa Cenure  Restaurant and 26 26 - -
Floriana Malr café
EUBFLE S.R.L. Piazza Monsignor  Bakery, retail 33 33 - -
(previously Jespers Italia Umberto Rossi, 2 shop
SRL)* 14032
Casorzo, Astl
Tealy
Medina Tower J.8.C.  Suite 107, Tower 2  Owns the Medina 27 27 - -
Level 10 Tower Project
Burj Al Farch
Tripoli, Libya
Mediterranean 22, Europa Centre  Investment 50 50 50 50
Investments Holding  Flomana, Malia company

p.le. (Quoted)

* Put into liquidadion in 2023,

&0
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15.

Investments in associates and joint ventures - continued

15.3 Investments in associates - continued

15.3.1 Equity in associate companies - continued

Company name

Palm City Limited

Palim Waterfront
Limired

Scalotel-Sociedade
Escalabitana Hoteleira
5.4

All associates except for Meditcrranean Investments Holding p.l.c. are private companies.

Registered office

22, Buropa Centre
Flonana, Malea

22, Buropa Centre
Floriana, Malta

Avenida Madre
Andaluz Freguesia de
Marvila, Cancelho de
Sanrarem, Portugal

Nature
of business

2024

%

Property 50
development and
over
Property 50
development and
operawr
Hotel owner 41

quoted market price available for the shares of all associates.

% of ownership interest held by
The Group The Company

2023 2024 2023
%% %% %4
50 - -
50 - -
41 - -

There is no

The directors consider Medina Tower ].5.C. and Mediterranean Investnents Holding p.lc. to be
matetial associates of the Group.

15.3.2 Summarised financial information for material associates

Summarised financial informardion of the material associates is included in the table below:

Non-current assets
Current assers

Total assets

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Profit/ (loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Medina Tower J.8.C

2024 2023
€000 €000
17,703 16,627
7,642 7,350
28,345 23977
90 01

90 91
361 (99)
1,008 (656}
1,369 (753)
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Investments in associates and joint ventuzes - continued
15.3 Investments in associates - continued

15.3.2 Summarised financial information for material associates - continued

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in the
associate:

Medina Tower J.5.C

2024 2023

€000 £000

Opening nct assets 23,886 24,641
Profit/(loss) for the year 361 (9%
Other comprehensive income 1,008 (6506}
Closing net assets 25,255 23,886
Interest in associare (37.50%)* 5,471 8,957
Catrying value 9,471 8,957

*The Group’s inrerest in Medina Tower ].S.C. as reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, is made up of a 25.00% shareholding held by IHI p.l.c. and another 25.00% shareholding
held by Mediterranean Invesoment Holdings p.le. (MIH p.l.c). Whereas the Group’s interest in IHI
plec. is 57.80%, its interest in MTH p.Lc. is 50.00% (accounted for using the equity method).

The Group’s uldmate percentage ownership in Medina Towet ].5.C. is 27.00%,

Mediterranean Investments

Holdings p.l.c. Group

2024 2023

€000 €000

Non-current assers 291,054 290,582
Current assets 27,072 18,510
‘Total assets 318,126 309,092
Non-current labilities 76,775 86,239
Current liabilities 28,802 16,945
Total liabilities 105,577 103,184
Revenue 31,224 27,441
Profit for the year 13,463 12,573
Other comprehensive income 178 (139
Total comprehensive income 13,641 12,434
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Investments in associates and joint ventures - contnued
15.3 Investments in associates - contnued
15.3.2 Summarised financial information for material associates - continued

Reconciliadon of the summarised information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in the
associare:

Mediterranean Investments

Holdings p.Le. Group

2024 2023

€000 €000
Opening ner assets 205,908 199,474
Profit for the vear 13,463 12,573
Orther comprehensive income 178 (139
Dividend (7,000) (6,000
Closing nct assets 212,549 205,908
Interest in associate (50.00%) 106,275 102,954
Carrying value 106,275 102,954

Included in the zbove financial informadon is 25.00% share of the financial information arrriburable
ro Medina Tower J.5.C.

15.3.3 Summarised financial information of associate companies that are not individually
material

2024 2023
€000 €000
Profic for the year 118 08
Other comprehensive income 212 266
Total comprehensive income 330 364
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Investments in associates and joint ventures - condnued

154 Investments in joint ventures

15.4.1 Equity in joint ventures

Set out below are the joint ventures of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The joint venrures listed below have share capital consisting soleiy of ordinary shares, which are held
by the Group through IHI p.l.c.

Company name Registered office Nature of business % of ownership
interest held by
the Group
2024 2023
Quality Catering & Retzil Miller House Catering company 50 50
Services Lid Airport Way
Tarxien Road
Luga
Malea

All joint ventures are private companics and there is no quoted market ptice available for their shares.

There are no contingent liabilides relating o the Group’s interest in the joint vencures.
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Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group The Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-curtent
Loans to investee 6,396 6,083 - -
Loans to subsidiaries - - 23,223 24623
Others 16 37 - -
Total non-current loans receivable 6,412 6,120 23,223 24,623
Current
Others 87 110 - -
Total current loans receivable 87 110 - -

The fair value of the other financial assets at amordsed is disclosed in Note 35.7.

Information about the impairment of financial assers at amortsed cost and the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk can be found in Note 35.

Terms
Crrrent

The Group’s loans to others amounting w0 €0.09 million (2023: €0.11 million) are unsecured and
interest free and are repayable within one year.

Non-crrrent

The Group’s loans to investee comprising €6.40 million (2023: €6.08 million) are unsecured, bear
interest at 4% and are repayable not later than April 2033.

The Group's loans to others amounting to €0.02 million (2023; €0.04 million) are unsecuted, bear
interest at 3.00% and are repayable not later than May 2026.

The Company’s loans to subsidiaries amounting to €23.22 million (2024: €24.62 million) are unsecured,
bear interest at Euribor + 1.5% matgin and are repayable not later than January 2026.

Inventories
The Group

2024 2023
€000 €000
Food and beverages 4,078 3,697
Consumables and other 15,524 12,142
Goods held for resale 605 201
Loose tools 1,132 715

21,341 16,755
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18.

Trade and other receivables

The Group The Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-Current
Qther receivables 161 235 - -
Contract assers 11,012 452 - -
Totzl receivables - non-current 11,173 687 - -
Current
Trade receivables 38,547 31,871 - -
Credit loss allowances (6,032) (5,575) - -

3z,515 26,296 - -
Amounts owed by:

- Subsidtary companies - - 2,467 9,225
- Associate companies 1,082 1,465 256 443
- Joint venrures 202 202 - -
- Related pardes 2,436 2,500 - -
Other recervables 6,487 4,073 439 250
Financial assets 42,722 34,536 10,162 9,918
Conrract assets/accrued income 3,481 3,218 21 13
Advance payments in respect of capital
cradirors 299 334 - -
Starutory receivables 2,787 2,572 64 48
Prepayments 5,055 4,382 58 83
‘Total trade and other receivables - current 54,344 45,042 10,305 10,062
Total trade and other receivables 65,517 45,729 10,305 10,062

Amounts owed by related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The carrying vaiues of trade and other receivables are considered to be a reasonable approximatdon of
fair value,

Informadon abour the credit losses attributable to trade reccivables and the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest tate risk can be found in Note 35.

The Group’s contract assets classified as non-current asser relate to key monies and are assessed for
impairment at each reporting date in line with LAS 36,

The Group’s contract assets which are classified as current asset primatily comprise balances from
services in relation to project management for which the Group would nor yer have an uncondidonal
right to receive payment. These contract assets are subject to IFRS 9 expected credit losses model as
disclosed in Note 35.
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19.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Classificagion of financial asgers at fair value through profit of loss

The Group classifies the following financial assets at falr value through profic or loss (FYTPL):

¢ Debtinvesunents that do not qualify for measurement ar either amortised cost or FVOCI. As
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, these include invesunents in funds and murual funds whose
instruments fail vo meet the definiton of equity from the issuer’s perspecuve.

e Equiry investments for which the Group has nox elected to recognise fair value gains and losses

through OCI.
The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 £000 €000
Non-current assers
Unlisted equity securides 3411 3411 - -
Current assets
Listed securittes:
Bond securides 160 386 1,254 1,479
‘Total 160 386 1,254 1,479

During the year, the Group recognised a net fair value gain of €0.06 million (2023: loss of €1.54 milhon),
whilst the Company recognised a fair value gain of €0.06 million (2023: gain of €0.25 million), in profit
or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. In 2024, the fair value gain relates to
listed bond secutites, In 2023, €1.54 million related to a fair value loss of €1.96 million on the Group’s
investment in Azure Resorts Group and a gain of €0.42 million relating to fair value movement on
listed securides.
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19.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - continued

Set out below are the unlisted equiry securides held by the Group:

Company name Registered office Nature of business % of ownership
interest held by
the Group
2024 2023
Azure Resorts Limited  Level 1, Palm Grove House  Vacation ownership 29 29
{in liquidation) Wickham'’s Cay 1 selling agent
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands
Azure Services Limited  Level 1, LM Complex Marketing and 29 29
{in liquidation) Brewery Sereet promotonal services

Mrichel, Malta

Azure Ulera Limited (in - Level 1, LM Complex Luxury vacht leasing 29 29
liquidation) Brewery Street
Mrichel, Malea

Azure XP Limited (in Level 1, Palm Grove House  Financing of vacation 29 29
liquidaton) Wickham’s Cay 1 ownership

Road Town, Tottola

British Virgin Islands
Brooksfield Overseas Level 1, Palm Grove House ~ Markenng and 29 29
Limited {in liquidation) ~ Wickham’s Cay 1 promodonal services

Road Town, Tomnola

Bridsh Visgin Islands
Heathfield Overseas Level 1, Palm Grove House ~ Payment solutions 29 29

Limited (in liquidation) ~ Wickham’s Cay 1
Road Town, Tottola
British Virgin Islands

The Group’s unlisted equity securities also include 13.10% (2023: 13.10%) holdings in Global Hotel
Alliance and 10.00% holdings in Lizar Holdings Limited, earmatked for a hotel and tesidendal
development in Moscow.

Information on the fair value higratchy and valuaton technicues used by managemenc as well as a
reconciliation of the unlisted equity securities are disclosed in Note 35.

20, Cash and cash equivalents
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Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Cash and bank balances:
Current 83,238 101,398 5,190 9,448
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position 83,238 101,398 5,190 9,448
Bank overdrafts (Note 25) (9,445) (8,755) - -
Cash and cash equivalents 73,793 92,643 5,190 9,448

The Group’s bank balances include amounts of €7.68 million (2023: €6.34 million} set aside for debe
servicing requirements and treasury bills amoundng to nil (2023: €29.41 million) set aside for bond
redemption putposes, At 31 December 2024, no funds were set aside for capital expenditure purposes
{2023: nil). Furthermore, a guarantee of €4 million was set aside by the Group and the Company in
reladon to the amounts due on the Rome projeci.

21,  Assers classified as held for sale

The Group

2024 2023

€000 £000

At1January 62 62
Transfer from investment property 18,342 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 143,988 -
Ner exchange differences (6) -
At 3] December 162,386 62

On 31 December 2024, the Group recognised as held for sale, assets actively markered for which TFRS
5 criteria were met,

The Group’s assets held for sale include:

¢ A 3-star hotel property located in Bodrum, Turkey with a stock of 72 beds. Since this property
does not have the level of luxury of the other hotels operated by the Group, ir has been pur
on the market and it is expected that it will be sold wirhin the next 12 months;

s A plot of land held in Marsa. As at 31 December 2024 this land was hypothecated in favour
of a bank, A promise of sale was signed in February 2025, and in order to clear its title, during
April 2025 the hypothec on the property was removed. The contract is expected to be signed
in 2026, This was reclassified duting the year from invesement property to assets held for sale;

s The Corinthia Hotel Lisbon. During the current year, the Group has gone to market and is
considering offers for the Corinthia Horel Lisbon, on the basis of a sale and management and
/ or leaseback. Consequently, the property in Lisbon was reclassified from property, plant and
equipment to assets held for sale; and

21. Assets classified as held for sale - continued
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22,

¢  Similarly, the apartment block in Lishbon was acdvely marketed for sale in 2024, with three
apattments being sold duting the year with the remaining apartiments being reclassified from
investment propetty to assets held for sale,

Management remains committed to finalising the disposal plan in the twelve-month period subsequent

to 31 December 2024,

Share capital
The Group and the Company
2024 2023
€000 £000
Authorised, issued and fully paid
20,000,000 ordinary shares at €1 each 20,000 20,000

22.1 Sharcholder rights

Shareholders are endded to vote at shareholders” meetings of the Company on the basis of one vote
for each share held. They are entitled to receive dividends as declared from dme o time. The shares
in 1ssue shall, ar all times, rank par? passe with respect to any distribution whether of dividends ot capital,
in a winding up or otherwise.

Other reserves
The balance on other reserves, which is not available for distribution, represents profits not realised at

the end of the reporting period including those arsing from foreign exchange translarions and
revaluations of property, net of tax.

The Group Translation Revalvuation Other equity
reserves reserve Components Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
At 1 Januvary 2024 5,640 126,575 9,942 142,157
Recognised in other comprehensive
income:
Nert revaluation of propertes - 27,926 - 27,926

Exchange difference arising from

translating foreign operadons:

- on net assets, excluding deferred tax 1,716 - - 1,716
Share of other comprehensive income of

associates and joint ventures:

- Exchange difference arising from

translating foreign operations 278 - - 278

- Revaluaton of properdes - 212 - 212

Other - - (649) (649)
Recognised directly in equity:

Reclassifications to rerained earnings - (1,020 - (1,020

At 31 December 2024 7,634 153,693 9,293 170,620

Oxher reserves — conanued

o0
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25,

The Group

At 1 January 2023
Recognised in other comprehensive
income:
Net revaluation of properties
Exchange difference arising from
translating foreign operations:
on net assets, excluding deferred mx
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates and jolnt venrures:
- Exchange difference atising from
rranslating foreign operations
- Revaluaton of properties
Other
Recognised directly in equity:
Reclassifications to retained earnings

At 31 December 2023

The Company

At 1 January and 31 December

Retained earnings

Translation Revaluation Other equity

reserves reserve components Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
17,089 108,672 9,916 135,677

- 18,850 - 18,850
{11,240} - - (11,240
{(209) - - {209

- 266 - 266

- - 26 26

- (1,213) - (1,213)

5,640 126,575 9,942 142,157

Translation reserves

2024 2023
€000 €000
2,950 2,930

The result for the year has been transferred to recained earnings as set out in the srarements of changes

in equity.

Bank borrowings
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The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Bank overdrafts 9.445 8,755 - -
Bank loans 426,499 377,603 207 801
435,944 386,358 207 801
Comprising:
Non-current bank borrowings
Bank loans due within 2 — 5 years 332,057 326,526 121 207
Bank loans due later than 5 years 53,552 18,480 - -
385,609 345,000 21 207
Current bank borrowings
Bank overdrafts 9,445 8,755 - -
Bank loans due within 1 year 40,890 32597 80 504
50,335 41,352 86 594

Bank borrowings are subject to variable interest rates based on Furibor or other such bank base rates
plus margins with a toral weighted average interest rate of 6.64% per annum at 31 December 2024
(2023: 6.28% per annum) for the group, and 2.87% per annum (2023: 2.49% per annum) for the
Company.

These facilities are secured by general and special hypothecs on the Group’s assets, privileges on certain
asscts and guarantees given by related pardes, as well as pledges over the shares in subsidiaries and joint
venrures,

The carrying amount of bank borrowings is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value based
on discounted cash flows, taking cognisance of the variable interest nature of the borrowings.
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26.

Bonds

26,1 Bonds in issue

Redeemabie bords
Bond 13
Bond 15
Bond 16
Bond 17
Bond 18
Bond 19
Bond 20

MNon-current
Current

{i) The Group has the following bonds in issue:

Redeemable bosds
Bond 13
Bond 16
Bond 17
Bond 18
Bond 19
Bond 20

Issuing
company

IHI p.l<.
CPHCL Finaace p.ic.
IHIplec.
IHI ple.
IHI plec.
IHI plc

Yeatr of
issue

2015
2016
2016
2016
2021
2023

The Group

2024 2023

€000 €000

44,953 44,830

- 10,362

39,808 39,817

54,853 54,763

59,763 59,652

78,286 78,210

59,279 59,220

337,032 346,854

292,079 336,492

44,953 10,362

337,032 346,854

Nominal Rate of
amounts  interest Marturty date
£000 %

45000 575 13 May 2025
40,000 425 12 April 2026
55,000  4.00 29 July 2026

60,000 4.00 20 December 2026
80,300 3.65 7 December 2031
60,000 6.00 14 Novernber 2033
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26.

Bonds - continved
26,1 Bonds in issue - contnued
In 2024, THI p.l.c. redeemed Bond 15 amounting to €10.4 million. In 2023, THI p.lc. redeemed Bond

12 armounting to €10.0 million, part of Bond 15 and issued Bond 20 for a total amount of €60.0 million.
During 2025, IHI p.l.c will be refinancing €35.0 million of Bond 13.

{ii) Interest

Incerest is payable annually in arrears on the due date,

(iii) Security

The bonds constitute the general, direct, unconditional, unsecured and vnsubordinated obligatons of
the issuing companies and will rank pari passw, sithout any priority or preference, with all other present
and furure unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the issuing companies. The only exception is
Bend 17 for €55.00 million which is secured by the Hotel property owned by IHI Hungary.

(iv) Sinking funds

The required contributions to the sinking funds as deposited under a wust arrangement as at 31
December 2024 amounted to €0.08 million (2023: €0.08 million).

(v) The carrying amount of the bonds is as follows:

€000
At 1 January 2024 346,854
Redemptions {10,392)
Amorrsation of issue costs 570
At 31 December 2024 337,032

o4



CPHCL Company Limired
Report and Financial Stawements 31 December 2024

Bonds - condnued
26.1 Bonds in issue - condnued

The market price of bonds in issue as az year end is as follows:

2024 2023
€ €
Bond 13 100.50 100.50
Bond 16 97.45 99.80
Bond 17 99.00 100.00
Bond 18 98.90 97.50
Bond 19 95.01 91.30
Bond 20 106.98 103.97
The fair value of the bonds at year end is disclosed in Note 35.7.
26.2 Investments held by trustees
Invesuments held by trustees comprise the following:
The Group 2024 2023
€000 €000
Cash ar bank:
= Interest-bearing bank accounts 77 77
77 77
Other financial liabilities
The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Shareholders” loans 35,846 34 685 25,846 34,685
Loans from subsidiaries - - 71,500 70,818
Loans {rom associates 5,500 - 5,500 -
Others - 9N - -
41,346 34776 103,246 105,503
Non-current 35,846 34,685 00,256 105,503
Current 5,500 91 12,990 -
41,346 34,776 103,246 105,503

The movements in the shareholdets’ loans represent the interest incurred thereon.

The loans from subsidiaries increased by €1.10 million (2023: €0.70 million). This movement reptesents
net payments of €0.42 million to Thermal Hotel Aquincum Rt offset by capitalised interest amounting
to €0.68 million. The loan from associates represents a loan from Mediterranean Invesmments Holding
p.lc. This is payable in September 2025 and bears interest ar 2% margin abeve the 3-month Euribor.
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27.  Other financial liabilities - condnued

As at 31 December 2024

€000 Interest Rate Repayable
The Group
35,846 4.00% After more than 1 year
5,500 2% over 3 month Euribor 15 September 2025
41,346
The Company
40,000 4.45% 12 April 2026
12,183 1.95% over 3-month Euribor After more than 1 year
251  4.60% 31 December 2026
7489  3.5% over 3-month Euribor 10 September 2025
11,977  3.5% over 3-month Euribor Aler more than 1 year
5,500 2% over 3-monrh FEurbor 15 September 2025
25,846  4.00% After more than 1 year
103,246

As at 31 December 2023

€000 Interest Rate Repayable
The Group
34,685 4.00% After more than 1 year
91  870% Within 1 year
34,776
The Company
40,000 4.45% 12 April 2026
11,523  1.95% over 3-month Euribor After more than 1 year
251  4.60% After more than 1 year
19,044 2.25% over 3-month Eurbor After more than 1 year
34,685 4.00% After more than 1 year
105,503

None of the loans are secured.

The carrying amount of the borrowings subject to a variable interest rate is considered a reasonable
approximation of fair value on the basis of discounted cash flows. In the case of borrowing subject o
a fixed rate of interest, the fair value is disclosed in Noze 35.7.
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28.

29.

Indemnification Habilities

The Company
2024 2023
€000 €000
At 1 January and 31 December 17,168 17,168

In view of group tax relief provisions applicable in Malta any tax due by CPHCL on the rransfer of the
shares in THI Towers s.r.0. (IHIT) and Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited (CTTL) to Internadional Horel
Invesments ple. IHI plc) effected in 2007 was deferred. This tax will only become due in the
evenruality thar IHI p.lc, sells the shares in IHIT and/or CTTL and/or their underlying properties
outside the Group. In accordance with the indemnity agreement prepared at the dme of the acquisition,
CPHCL has indemnified ITHI p.l.c. for future tax it may incur should IHI p.Lc. sell the shares or the
underlying propertes ouside the Group. This indemnmnity will be equivalent to the tax that will be due
by IHI p.lc, on the gain dthat was untaxed in the hands of CPHCL. The indemnity has no time limir
and has a maximum value of €45,00 million. In 2021, a reduction of €6.23 million in the indemnificadon
ligbility held in the records of the Company was recognised to reflect a reduced rate of tax thar would
be applicable in the eventuality of a sale of CTTL.

As outlined above the indemniry agreement provides thar in the event of a sale of the shares in IHIT
and/or CTTL and/or their underlying properties outside the Group, CPHCL will be liable for the tax
that will be due on the gain that was exempt in the hands of CPHCL at the time of the sale. Since it is
certain that reimbursements will be paid by CPHCL if IHI ple serdes rthe cbligadon, the
reimbursements have been recognised and treated as separate liabilites.

On the sale of its shares in QPM Limited effecred during the year ended 31 December 2016, CPHCL
provided a tax indemniry to IHI p.le. The sales contract was exempt from taxation on the basis that
CPHCL and IHI p.Lc. form part of the same ultimate group for tax purposes. Should IHI p.l.c. dispose
of the shares ocutside of the Group, it may become liable to tax that it would not have become liable to
pay had CPHCL not been a related party. The indemnity was estimaced ro amounr o €2.00 mullion and
has been recognised as an indemnification liability representing the tax that will be due by IHI plc. on
the gain that was untased in the hands of CPHCL.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred taxes are calculated on all tempotary differences under the liability method and are measvred

at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is serded
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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29, Deferred tax assets and liabilities - condnued

The balance ar 31 December represents emporary diffetences atributable to:

The Group Assets Liabilities Net

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment . . (35189) (35191) (35189) (35,191)

Right of use assets - - (5,681) - (5,681}
Lease liabilities 6,551 - - - 6,551
Fair valuadon of land and

buildings - - (110,591) (92,051) (110,591) {92,051)
Tair valuation of investment

propetty - - {15870) (14,083) (15,870} (14,083)
Intangible assets - - (1,464) {1,536} (1,464} (1,536)
Invesmmenss in associates 101 101 - - 101 101

Unrelieved tax losses and
unabsorbed capital

allowances 61,974 58,972 - - 61,974 58,972
Exchange differences 263 389 - - 268 389
Provision on trade receivables 1,039 898 - - 1,039 898
Others 471 504 - - 7M1 504
Deferred tax assets/(liabilides)

— before offsetting 70,404 60,804 (168,795) (142,861) (98,391) (B1,997)
Offser in the statement of

financial posidon (24,799) (23,098) 24,799 23,098 - -
Deferred tax assets/(liabilides)
— as presented in statement of

financial position 45,605 37,766 (143,996) (119,763) (98,391) (81,997)
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29. Deferred tax assets and liabilities - condnued

The Company Assets Liahilities Net
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 £000 €000 €000
Unrelieved tax losses and
unabsorbed capital allowances 3,555 3,555 - - 3,555 3,555

Deferred tax assets — before
offsetting 3,555 3,555 - - 3,555 3,555

Deferred tax assets — as
presented in statement of
financial positdon 3,555 3,555 -

3,555 3,555

The recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled principally after
more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

The movement on the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration offserting of balances, is as follows:

The Group
Recognised
Recognised inother  Curtency
Balance in profit comprehensive  translaton Balance
1.1.2024 or loss income differences 31.12.2024
€000 £000 €000 €000 €000
Property, plant and
equipment (127,242) (1,175) (18,070 707 (145,780}
Investment property (14,083) (1,971} - 184 {15,870}
Intangible assers {1,336) 71 - 1 (1404
Investments ia associates 101 - - - 101
Right-of-use assets - (5,681) - - (5.681)
Lease liabilities - 6,551 - - 6,551
Unreheved rax losses and
capital allowances 58,972 1,632 1,953 {583) 61,974
Exchange differences 389 (218} - 97 268
Provision on trade receivables 898 141 - - 1,039
Ochers 504 {(43) 17 (N 471
(81,997 {693) {16,100) 399 (98,391)
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29. Deferred tax assets and liabilities - condnued

The Group
Recognised
Recognised in other Currency
Balance in profit  comprehensive translation Balance
1.1.2023 ot loss income differences 31.12.2023
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Property, plant and
equipment {115,963) 608 (15,309 3,422 (127,242)
Investment property (13,261) (1,571) - 849 (14,083)
Inrangible assets (404) (1,127) - (5) {1,536)
Investments in
associates 101 - - - 101
Unrelieved tax losses
and capital
allowances 62,776 (3,542} 3,707 (3,969 58,972
Exchange differences 235 160 26 (32) 38%
Provision on trade
receivables 856 42 - - 898
Others 455 126 (6) 71) 504
(65,305) (5,304) (11,582) 194 (81,997)

The movement on the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideratdon offsening of balances, is as follows:

The Company
Recognised
Balance in profit Other Balance
1.1.2024 orloss movements 31.12.2024
€000 €000 £000 €000
Unrelieved rax losses and unabsorbed
capital allowances 3,555 - - 3,555
3,555 - - 3,555
The Company
Recognised
Balance in profit Other Balance
1.1.2023 or loss movements 31.12.2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Unrelieved tax losses and unabsorbed
capital allowances 3,555 i - 3,555
3,555 - - 3,555
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29.

Deferred tax assets and liabilites - condnued
Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred income taxes are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
relared tax benefit through furure taxable profits is probable, The Company did not recognise deferred
income tax assers of €15.21 million (2023: €14.65 million) in respect of losses amoundng to €60.85
million (2023: €58.60 million) that can be carried forward against furure raxable income.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assers of €37.69 million (2023: €37.61 million) in
respect of losses amountng to €143.71 million (2023: €142.85 million) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income.

Trade and other payables
The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-current
Other payables 22,624 3,106 - -
Refundable lease deposits 646 2m - -
Financial liabilities 23,270 3,307 - -
Contract liabilities 1,179 997 - -
Statutory liabilides 3,445 5,817 240 436
Total payables - non-cutrent 27,894 10,121 240 436
Current
Trade payables 26,797 25,392 6l 80
Amounts owed to:
Subsidiary companies - - 7,733 },081
Associate companies 436 933 - -
Other related parties 7,224 6,892 - -
Capirtal creditors 4,106 2427 - -
Other payables 10,273 7,666 4 92
Refundable lease deposits 103 595 - -
Accrued expenses 37,998 34,963 1,712 1,475
Financial liabilities 86,237 78,868 9,510 97728
Contract habilines 5,766 5,591 - -
Advance payments 7,333 5,340
Lease payments received in advance 754 541 - -
Statutory liabilides 9,432 9,238 260 180
Total payables - current 110,222 99,578 9,770 9,908

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The carrying
amount of trade and other payablcs is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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30.

Trade and other payables - conunued

Current contract liabilites frainly include advance deposits on hotel bookings and cash received for
vouchers to be redeemned by customers in hotels. The revenue in relaton to these amounts received in
advance is recognised only when the Group satisfies its performance obligation (i.e. as the customer
utilises their right to use the hotel room).

Non-current contract liabilities emanate from a transacdon in which the Group sold a block of serviced
apartments but retained che obligation to maintin such apartments for the very loag-term. The
consideration that was paid by the buyer to the Group was partly allocated to the service element in the
arrangement and will be recognised over the remaining number of years for which the obligaton
remains.

The agpregare transaction price allocated to this long-term arrangement amounted to £2.30 million,
equivalent to €2.80 million (2023: £2.30 million, €2.70 million), of which £1.80 million, equivalent to
€2.1 million (2023: £1.80 million, equivalent to €2.0 million), remains unsadsfied as at year-end.

Management expects that the unsatisfied portion of the transacton price will be recognised as revenue
on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of 40 years, since the directors consider the arrangement
consistent with a stand-ready obligation to perform,

Revenue recognised during 2024 thac was included in the contrace liability balance ar the beginning of
the period amounted to €0.40 million (2023: €0.80 million).

102



CPHCL Company Limited
Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2024

.

Cash flow information

311 Adjustments

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €'000 €000 €000

Amornsation of intangible assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Deepreciatdon of right-of-use assets

Other losses arising on property, plant and equipment
Oiher (gains)/losses

Impairment losses on Investments

Impairment (gain) on property, plant and equipment
Finance lease concessions

Fair value movements on investment properties
Share of results of associares and joint ventures

Fair value movement on financial assets at FVIPL

Change in credit loss allowances

Net (gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant and

equipment
Amortsation of transacdon costs
Interest income
Interest expense
Dividend income
Net exchange differences

Signiftcant non-cash financing and investing transacions

950 613 - .
26,802 26,806 7 g
2,715 2,673 40 17
15 1,680 - i
(814) 40 - .

- - 1,901 4475
(6,329)  (275) - -
- - (46) {21)
(1,584)  (6,423) - i
(6,834)  (6,360) - -
281 1,541 (54)  (245)

655 611 - -
(20) 22 - -
1,347 1,026 80 80

(L576)  (1251) (1,287) (1,091
46,557 41485 5205 5117
(3,707)  (5,431)

- )

53,500 65,706 2,139 2,904

1,205 3,518

The Group’s significant non-cash financing and investing wansactions for 2024 amounted to nil (2023
€30.50 million). These represented the pottion of bonds that were redeemed through the re-issue of
new bonds. The Company's significant non-cash ransactions are nil (2023: €2.00 million). These

represent an offset against loans receivable.
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Cash flow information - condnued

312 Reconciliation of financing assets and labilities

The Group Assets Liabilities from financing activities
Assets placed

undet trust Bank Other Lease
arrangement Bonds loans borrowings liabilities Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Asat 1 January 2023

- Principal 77 (321,091)  (340,576) (33,600) (17,232} (712,512
- Accrucd interest - (5492 (3,067) - - {8,559)

77 (326,583)  (343,643) (33690)  (17,232)  (721,071)
Net Cash flow movements - {10516)  (12,608) (2,511) 3372 (22,263)

Foteipn exchange differences - (3,184 - (3,184
Other movements including
interest - {14,493) (20,654 1,425 (6,972 {40,094)
As at 31 December 2023 77 (351,592) (380,089) 34,776y  (20,832) (787,212)
Comptising:
- Principal 77 (346,854)  (377,603) (34,776)  (20,832) (779,988)
- Accrued interest - {3,738 (2,486) - - {7.224)
As at H December 2023 77 (351,592) (380,089) (34,776)  (20,832) (787,212}
Asar 1 January 2024
- Principal 77 (346,854  (377,603) (34.776)  (20832)  (779,988)
- Acerued intercst - (4,738 (2,456) - - (7,224)
77 (351,592)  (380,089) (34,776) {20,832y (787.212)
Net Cash flow movements - 26,195 {11,990) (5,316} 3,529 12418
Foreign exchange differences - - {(8,050) - - (8,050)
Other movements including
interest - (16203 (28,09) (1276)  (1.569)  (47,139)
As at 31 December 2024 77 (341,6000 (428,225) (41,368)  (18,867) (829,983
Comprising:
- Principal 77 (337,032)  (426,499) {41,346) (18867}  (823,667)
- Aectued interest - {4,308) (1,726} {22 - (6,316)
As at 31 December 2024 77 (341,600) (428,225) (41,368  (18,867) (829,983)
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Cash flow information - conrinued

31.2 Reconciliation of financing assets and liabilites - continued

The Company Liabilities from financing activities
Other
Bank loans botrowings Total
€000 €000 €000
As at 1 January 2023
- Principal (2,092) {103,607 (105,699
- Accrued incerest {19 (1,545) {1,364)
(2,111} (104,952) (107,063)
Net cash flow movements 1,347 1,792 3,139
Other movements including interest 37 {3,657) {3,694
As at 31 December 2023 (801) (106,817) (107,618)
Comprising:
- Principal (801) (105,503) (106,304)
- Accrued interese - (1,314 (1,314)
As at 31 December 2023 (801) (106,817) (107,613)

As at 1 January 2024

- Principal {801) (105,503) (106,304)
- Accrued interesc - (1,314 (1,314)
(801) (106,817) (107,618)
Net cash flow movements 608 8,939 9,547
Othet movements including interest (14 (5,544 (5,538)
As at 31 December 2024 (207) (103,422) (103,629)
Comptising:
- Principal (207 (103,367) (103,574)
- Accrued interest - (33) (33)
As at 31 December 2024 (207) (103,422) (103,629}
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32.

33

Commitments

Capiral expenditure commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

The Company

2024
€000

2023
€000

The Group
2024 2023
€000 €000
Contracted for:
Property, plant and equipment 22,723 90,425
Authorised bur nor yer contraceed for:
Property, plant and equipment 21,411 18,688

44,134 109,113

Contingencies

A claim in relation to brokerage fees on the sale of Lisbon Hotel to THI pl.c. in 2000 amounting to
€1.70 million is being made by an individual against § defendants including THI p.l.c. No provision has
been made in these financial statements for this claim as the Company and the Group believe thac they

have a strong defence in respect of these claims.

A client has instituted proceedings against a subsidiary of IHI p.Lc. for damages sustained in relation to
professional works. The Directors do not expect the cash outflow net of insurance recoveries o be

material.
Additonally, the Group and the Company have the following guarantees:

The Group

Guarantees given to secure bank facilites of associate companies
Guarantees given to secure bonds of associate company (MIH p.lc.)

The Company

Guarantees given to secure bonds
Guarantees given to secure bank facilities for refated companies

2024 2023
€000 €000
82 266
50,000 50,000
50,082 50,266
2024 2023
€000 €000
99,000 90,000
11,692 13,807
101,692 103,807
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34.

Related parties

All companies controlled, joindy controlled or significantly influenced by CPHCL are considered to be
related parties. A list of these companies is included in Notes 14 and 15. Related parties also comprise
the shareholders of CPHCL rogerher with the Group companies’ key management personnel.

Key managetnent personnel include directors {executive and non-execudve)} and senior management
members of both the Company and of all the group enddes located in Malia and in various other
coumries. The compensaton paid or payable to key management personnel for employee services is
disclosed in Note 34.1.

None of the rransactions with related parties incorporate special terms and conditons. Transactions
with related companies are generally affected on a cost-plus basis or on the basis of pre-agreed
arrangements. Outstanding balances are usually setded in cash. Amounts owed by /o related parties are
shown separately in Notes 14, 15, 16, 18, 27 and 30.

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€'000 €000 €000 €000
Revenue
Services rendered ro:
Associates 800 754 832 816
Related companies - 75 698 634
800 829 1,530 1,450
Financing
Interest income
- Subsidiaries - - 1,148 919
- Associates - 77 - 77
Interest expense
- Subsidiaries - - (3,841) (3,688)
- Associates 69 - - -
- Shareholders’ loan {1,386} {1,336) (1,222) (1,336)

(1,317) (1259)  (3,915) (4.028)

Dividend income from subsidiaries - - 207 851
Dividend income from associates 3,500 4,580 3,500 4,580
Management fee - - (550) (550)

34.1 Transactions with key management personnel

In addition to the remuneration paid ro the Direcrors included in Note 6.2, in the course of its
opetations, the Group has a number of arrangements in place with its officers, executives and other
related parties whereby concessions are made available for hospiwlity services rendered to them
according to accepted indusuy norms.

In 2024, the toral remuneration of the executive directors and the senior management members of both
the Company and of all the group entides located in Malta and in various other countries amounted to
€12.0 million (2023: €9.6 million).
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to varous risks through its use of financial instruments. The main types of risks
are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk, which gesult from both its operating and investing activities.
The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its head office, in close co-operadon with the board of
directors and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short 1o medium rerm cash flows by minimising
the exposure to financial matkets, Long-term financial investments are managed to generare lasring
teruns.

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework.

The Group’s risk managemenct policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to imits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market condidons and the
Group’s actdvites. The Group, through its waining and management standards and procedures, aims
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their
roles and obligatons.

The auvdit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The audit commitree is assisted in its oversight role by internal
audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures, the resules of which are reported to the audit commirtee.

The most significant financial risks ro which the Group is exposed to are desctibed below. See also
Note 35.5 for a summary of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category.

3581 Credit risk

Credir risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterpatty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and atises principally from the Group’s receivables
from related parties, customers, investment in debt instruments and cash at bank. The Group’s
exposure to credic risk is measured by reference to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised
at the statemnent of financial posidon date, as summarised below:
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.1 Credit risk - condnued

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Investments in debt instruments 160 386 1,254 1,479
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables {including contract 63,408 46,922 10,793 10,525
aS5E1s)
Long term receivables from related parides and 6,499 6,230 23,223 24,623
other investees
Cash in hand and at bank 81,840 101,398 5,190 9,448
Assets held by trustee placed under trust
arrangement 77 77 - -
(Gross exposure 151,984 155,013 40,460 46,075
Credir loss allowances (6,032) (5,575) (540) (546)
Net exposure 145,952 149,438 39,914 45,529

The aximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporing period in respect of financial assets
mentioned above is equivalent to their gross carrying amount as disclosed in the respective notes to the
financial statements. The Group does not hold any significant collateral in this respect.

Risk managemient and security

The subsidiary companies within the Group have, over the years, conducted business with various
corpotates, tout operators and individuals located in different jurisdictions and, owing to the spread of
the Group’s debtor base, there is no concentration of credit risk.

The Group has a credit policy in place under which new customers are analysed individually for
creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered.
The Group’s review includes external ratings, where available, and in some cases bank references.
Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only
on a cash basis.

In monitoring customer credie risk, custorners are individually assessed. Customers that are graded as
“high risk” are placed on a restricted customer list and funire sales are only made on a prepayment
basis,

The Group does not require collaceral in respect of trade and other receivables. The Group establishes
an allowance for credic losses that represents its esdmate of losses in respect of wade and other
receivables.
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - conanued
35.1 Credit risk - continued

The Company has 2 concentraton of credit risk on its exposures to loans receivables from the
subsidiaries. The Company monitors intra-group credit exposures at individual entty level on a regular
basis and ensures timely performance of these assets in the context of overall Group liquidity
management. The Company assesses the credit quality of these related parties taking into account
financial positions, performance and other factors, The Company takes cognisance of the related party
relationship with these entties and management does not expect any significant losses from non-
performance or default beyond amounts acwmally provided in respect of uncollectible amounts,
Accordingly, credit tisk with tespect to these receivables is expected to be limited.

Tmparrment of financial assels

The Group and the Company have three rypes of financial assets that are subject 1o the expecred credit
loss model:

e trade receivables and conrract assets relating 1o the provision of services;

» other financial assets at amortised cost, comptising loans receivable from relared parties and,
in the case of the Company, subsidiary underrakings;
financial assets at fair value chrough profit or loss; and
cash held with banks and financial institudons.

Trade recefvables and contract assels

‘The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
liferime expected loss allowance for all wade receivables and contract assets,

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contracr assets have been grouped based
on shared credir risk characteristics and the days past due. The Group has cencluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables ate a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets
since they have substantially the same characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over an appropriate period before
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to seule the
receivables.

Based on the assessment carried out in accordance with the above methodelogy, the movement in
loss allowances identfied as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 is deemed immmaterial by
management. On this basis, the informaton pertaining to loss rates and loss allowances in the Group's
provisioning mauix, which would have othetwise been recommended by IFRS 7, is not presented as
at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
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35,

Risk management objectives and policies - condnued
35.1 Credit risk - continued
Trade recesvabier and contract assels - continued

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 December 2024 reconcile
to the opening loss allowance as follows:

The Group
2024 2023
€000 €000
At 1 January 5,575 4,982
Written-off balances 88 77
Credit losses recognized 410 529
Credit losses reversed C¥)] 5
Exchange differences 6 (18)
At 31 December 6,032 5,575

Trade receivables and contract assets are wrirten off when there is no reasonable expectadon of
recovery. Indicators chat there is no reasonable expecration of recovery include, amongst others,
failure to sertlement after a number of acempts being made to collect past due debts; amounts deemed
unrecoverable after a court ruling; and failure by the Group to provide original documenrarion in case
of invoices contested by the customer.

Credit losses on wtade receivables and contract assets are recognised separately in the income
statement.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line
irem.

Other financial assefs at amprtised cost

The Company’s other financial assets at amordsed cost which are subject o IFRS 9’s general
impairment model include amounts due from subsidiaries and amounts due from other related parties.
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Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.1 Credir risk - contdnued
Other finasicial assets af amortised cost - continued

The closing loss allowance for amounts due from subsidiaries as ar 31 December 2024 reconcile to
the opening loss allowances as follows:

The Company

2024 2023
€000 €000
At 1 January 20,660 20,385
Credit losses recognised - 275
At 31 December 20,660 20,660

The Group’s other financial assets ar amortised cost which are subject to IFRS 9's general impairment
model primarily include amounts due from associates and investee.

The Group and the Company monitor intra-group credit exposutes at individual entity level on a
regular basis and ensure dmely performance of these assets in the context of irs overall liquidity
management. The loss allowances for these financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of
defaulr and expected loss rates. The Company’s inanagement uses judgement in making these
assumptions, based on the counterparry’s past history, existing market conditions, as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

As at year-end, based on the Directors’ assessments of thesc factors, the equity position of the
respective counterparty, and, where the probability of default is high, the recovery strategies
contemplated by management rogether with the support of shareholdets in place, resulted in no
further increase in provision (2023: increase of €0.28 million) for the Company.

Cash ar bank

The Group’s cash is placed with reputable financial insdtutions, such that management does nor
expect any Insticuton to fail to meet repayments of amounts held in the name of the companies within
the Group. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of [FRS
9, the idendfied impairment loss was insignificant.

Financial assets at jair valne through profit or Joss

The Group and the Company are also directly and indirectly exposed to credir risk in relation to certain
bond funds and unlisted equity securities that are measured at fair value dwough profit or loss. The
maximum exposure at the end of the reporting period amounts to €3.57 million (2023: €3.80 million)
for the Group and €1.25 million (2023: €1.48 million) for the Company.
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Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidiry risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet irs financial obligations 2s they fall
due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities as they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions.  Liquidity
risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and commirted credic lines to ensure the
availability of an adequate amount of funding o meet the Group’s obligations.

The Group acuvely manages its cash flow requirements. Management monitors liquidity risk by
reviewing expected cash flows through cash flow forecasts, covering both Head Office corporate cash
flows and all Group endtles” cash flows. This is performed at a central treasury funcdon, which
conrrols the overall liquidity requirements of the Group within cestain parameters. Each subsidiary
company within the Group updates its cash flow on a monthly basis. Typically, the Group ensures
that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operatonal expenses for a period of 60 days,
including the servicing of financing or borrowing cbligations. Such planning also factors cash outflows
required for capital projects and where necessary ensures that adequate bank facilides are in place.
This excludes the potenual impact of extreme circumstances that cannot be reasonably forecasred.

The Group’s liquidity risk is accordingly actively managed taking cognisance of the marching of
operatonal cash inflows and outflows arising from expected maturities of financial instruments,
attributable to the Group’s different operariens, together with the Group’s commiteed bank berrowing
facilides and other financing that it can access o meet liquidity needs, The Group also reviews
periodically its presence in the local capital markets and considers actively the disposal of non-core
assers to secure potential cash inflows consatuting a buffer for liquidiry management purposes.

The Group has funding in place for the main contracted capital projects and has access to undrawn
bank loans amounting to €101.4 million at the end of the repordng period. Furthetmore, the Group
has access to unurlised bank overdrafts amountng to €8.9 million at the end of the reporting period.
The bank overdrafts are renewed yearly and the bank loans can be withdrawn within one year ot
beyond.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has financial Liabilites, including estimated interest
payments, with contractual marurites which are summarised below:

The Group
Cutrent Non-current

Within 1 year 1-5 years Mote than 5 years
31 December 2024 €000 €000 €000
Bank borrowings 76,046 385,988 58,231
Bonds 58,763 185,166 158,681
Other financial liabilines 6,064 5,735 38,679
Lease liabilides 3,274 8,449 33,884
Trade and other payables 86,937 19,670 5,400
231,084 605,008 294,875
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.2 Liquidity risk - continued

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities including estinated intetest payments

in the previous reporting period as follows:

The Group
Current Non-current

Within 1 year 1-5 years Mote than 5 yeats
31 December 2023 €000 €000 €000
Bank borrowings 70,360 402,726 24,169
Bonds 26,074 237,409 165,201
Other financial liabilides 99 8,550 36,072
Lease liabilides 3,584 9,910 34 835
Trade and other payables 83,357 3,307 -
183,474 658,902 260,277

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the carrying

values of the liabilities at the end of the reportng period.

At 31 December 2024, the Company has financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments,

with contractual maturides which are summatised below:

The Company
Current Non-current

Within 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years
31 December 2024 €000 €000 £000
Bank borrowings 94 125 -
Other financial liabilities 3,444 49 446 64,279
Lease liabiliries 42 94 -
Trade and other payables 9,508 - -
13,088 49,665 64,279

This compares to the maturity of the Company’s financial Niabilides in the previous reporting period

as follows:
The Company
Current Non-current
Within 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years
31 Decembet 2023 €000 €000 €000
Bank borrowings 610 219 -
Other financial liabilides 3,488 54,664 66,891
Tease liabilites 124 44 -
Trade and other payables 9,728 - -
13,950 54,927 66,891
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Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.3 Market risk

Matket risk is the risk that changes in market ptices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
securities and index prices, will affect the Group’s income or financial posidon. The objective of the
Group’s market nisk management is to manage and conuol market risk exposures within acceprable
parameters, while optimising the rerurn on risk.

(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
which are denominated in a currency that is not the respective entity’s funcidonal currency, which
would be considered a foreign currency from the endry’s perspective.

The Group operaies internadgonally and is exposed w foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily, from its operations in Russia (RUB}, Unired Kingdom (GBP), Hungary
(HUF), Czech Republic (CZK), Tunisia {TND) and Libya (LYD). Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transacdons and recognised assers and liabilides which are denominated in a
currency that is not the respective entry’s functonal currency, which would be considered a foreign
currency from the entity’s perspective.

Although the Group operates internadonally, most of the Group’s endties have the Euro as their
funcdonal currency. The main exceptions are IHI Benelux BV and THI St. Petersburg LLC, with
Russian Rouble as their funcdonal currency, the entddes within the NLI Group, with the pound sterling
as their functional curtency, Libya Hotels Development and Investmen: JSC, with Libyan dinars as its
funcdonal eurrency, CHL Surrey Inc. with the US dollar as its funcrional cutrency, Thermal Hotel
Aquincum through its hotel in Budapest (HUF}, SPH Khamsa through irs hotel in Tunis (TND), and
Marsa Investments through its operation in Sudan (SDG).

The Group’s main currency risk exposure reflecting the carrying amount of assets and liabilides
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period, analysed by the functional
currency of the respective endty or entites, was as follows:
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35. Risk management objectives and policies - condnued

35.3 Market risk - contnucd

(i) Foreign currency risk - continued

Group

Financial assets:
Loans

Trade receivables
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilites:
Bank botrowings
rTrade payables
Other payables

Net exposure

2024
Functional Currency
EUR HUF TND SDG

HUF LYD CZK EUR EUR UusD EUR
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
1,256 1,691 275 89 68 498 2,084
300 (221) 351 - - - -
- - 38 435 - -

- - - (7,963) - -
(3413 {604) (349 - a7 -
(2,605) (767} (148} - - - -
{1,390) 99 167 (7.439) (19 498 2,084
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35. Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.3 Market risi - continued

(i} Foreign currency risk - continued

2023
Functional Currency
EUR HUF TNI} SDG
HUF LYD CZK EUR EUR UsD EUR
€000 €000 €000 £000 €000 £000 €000
Group
Financial assets:
Loans - - - - - - -
Trade receivables 1,181 540 1,056 84 47 529 2,084
COither receivables 149 157 426 - - - -
(Cash and cash equivalents - - 1,215 470 - - -
Financial liabilides:
Bank borrowings - - - {9,199) - - -
Trade payables (746) {406} (1,139 - (98) - -
Other payables {1,901} (208) (1,991) - - - -
Net exposure (1,317) (617) (433) {8,645) (51) 529 2,084
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35.

Risk management objectives and pelicies - continued

35.3 Market risk - condnued

(i) Foreign currency risk - contnued

The Company is not significantly exposed to foreign currency risk,

IHI Benelux is also exposed to odher financial liabilities and othet payables due to Group companies which
are eliminated on consolidaton. These balances amountdng to €89.0 million (2023: €94.07 million) and
€33.43 million (2023: €27.24 million) respectively, are considered to be part of the Group’s net invesunent
in the foreign operation. Accordingly, any foreign exchange differences with respect ro these balances,
which at THI Benelux standalone level are recognised in profit or loss, were reclassified o other
comprehensive income on consolidation,

At 31 December 2024, if the Euro had weakened/strengthened by 10.00% (2023: 10.00%) against the
Rouble with all other variables held constant, the Group's equity would have been €13.60 million
lower/€13.60 millicn higher (2023: €13.48 million lower/€13.48 million higher) as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains recognised in other comprehensive income on the translation of the Euro
dencminared payables.

The Thermal Hotel Aquincumm is exposed to foreign currency risk through its bank borrowings which are
denominated in Euro. As at 31 December 2024, if the EUR had weakened/strengthened by 10.00% (2023:
10.00%) against the Hungadan Forint with all other variables remaining constant, the Group’s post tax
profit for the year would have been €0.88 million lower/€0.88 million higher (2023 €0.92 millicn
lower/€0.92 million higher} as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of the Euro
denominated borrowings.

The Group also has a significant amount in intra-group balances between the Parent Company and one of
its subsidiaries in Hungary that give rise to currency exposure risk on the movements of the HUF, Although
the above balances are eliminated on consclidation, the effect of movements in exchange rates are stll
recognised in the individval company’s and in the consolidated income statemenc. However, management
does not deemn that a sensidvity analysis is required on these balances in view of the fact that the rates of
the HUF against the Eure is relatively stable, while their settlement is at the discretion of the Company.

Apart from the above, management does nort consider the foreign exchange risk atributable to other
recognised assets and liabilities arising from transactions denominated in foreign currencies that are not the
respective enticies’ functional currency to be significant. Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis for foreign
exchange risk disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affecred by changes in foreign
exchange rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period is not deemed necessary.

In respect of monerary assets and liabiliies denominared in foreign currenctes, the Group strives to manage
1ts net exposure within acceptable parameters by buying or selling forcign currencies at spot rates, when
necessary, to address short-term mismatches. Wherever possible, borrowings to fund certain operations
are denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the respectdve operations of the
Group so as to provide an economic hedge.
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Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.3 Market risk - contnued

(i) Interestrate risk

The Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates principally through bank borrowings and relared

party loans taken out at variable interest rates. The interest rate profile of the Group’s inrerest-bearing
financial instruments at the reporting dates was as follows:

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Fixed rate instruments €000 €000 €000 €000
Financial assets:
Assets placed under trust arrangement 77 77 - -
Investments in bond securites 160 386 1,254 1,479
Loans to investee 6,396 6,083 - -
Loans ta subsidiaties - - 23,223 24,623
Others 17 37 - -
6,650 6,583 24,477 26,102
Financial habilices:
Bonds (337,032)  (346,854) - -
Orher financial liabilities (35,846) {34,776} (66,096) {74,936)

(372,878)  (381,630)  (66,096)  (74,930)

Variable rate instruments

Financial liabilides:
Bank borrowings (435,944)  (3806,358) {207) (801)
Orther financial liabilities (5,500) - (37,149) (30,567

(341,444)  (386358)  (31,356)  (31,368)

The Group manages its exposute to changes in cash flows in relation to interest rates on interest-bearing
borrowings due by the parent company and its subsidiaries, by entering into financial arrangements that are
based on fixed rares on interest whenever practicable. The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
on its financial assets and liabilities bearing fixed rates of interest, bue with the exception to the investments
in bond securities, which are measured at fair value, all the other instruments are measured ar amortised
cost and accordingly a shift in interest rates would not have an impact on profit or loss or rtoml
comprehensive incorme. Management does not consider a reasonable shift in interese will have 2 significant
impact on the Group’s and Company’s equity and post-tax profit as 2 result of a change in the fair value of
its invesaments in bond securides.
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.3 Market risk - continued
(ii} Interest rate risk - contnued

The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate tisk principally arises from bank borrowings issued at variable
rates which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Floating interest rates on these financial
instruments are linked to reference rates such as Euribor or the respective banker’s base rate. Management
moniters the impact of changes in marker interest rares on amounts reported in profit or loss in respect of
these instruments taking into consideration refinancing and hedging techniques.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates had been 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis points) higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year for the Group would have been €4.09
miliion (2023: €3.68 million) lowes/higher as a result of highet/lower net interest expense.

(iii) Price risk

The Group does not have any exposure to equity secutities price risk since it sold all of its publicly raded
investments. In 2023, the Group’s expasure 2rose from its investments in equities, funds and mutual funds,
which are classified in the statement of financial position as ‘Financial assets at fair value through profit oz
loss’. The carrying amount of these investments as at 31 December 2024 was nil (2023: €039 millicn), All
of these investments were publicly traded.

Management does not consider that a reasonable shift in indices will have a significant impact on the
Group’s equity and post-tax profit, Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss and
equity would have been affected by changes in indices that were reasonably possible at the end of the
tepotting period is not deemed necessary.

35.4 Capital management policies and procedures

The Group’s objectives when managing eapital are to safeguard the Company’s ability o continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Company may issue new shazes or adjust the dividends paid ro its shareholders.

The Group monitors the level of capital on the basis of the ratio of aggregated net debe to total capital. Net
debt 1s calculated as total borrowings (as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capiral is calculated as equity, as shown in the respective statement of financial position,
plus net debt.
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35. Risk management cbjectives and policies - continued
35.4 Capital management policies and procedures - continued

The figuees in respect of the Group’s equity and borrowings are reflected below:

The Group The Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

€000 €000 €000 €000

Bank loans (Note 25) 426,49% 377,603 207 801

Bonds (Note 26) 337,032 346,854 - -

Assets held under trust (Note 26.2) (7N 77 - -

Other financial liabitides (Note 27) 41,346 34,776 103,246 105,503

Lease liabilities (Note 13) 18,867 20,832 121 145
Less: cash and cash equivalents

(Note 20) (73,793) (92,643) (5,190) (9,448)

Net debt 749,874 087,345 98,384 97,001

Total equiry 969,306 891,931 286,894 292,549

Total capital 1,719,180 1,579,276 385,278 389,550

Net debt ratio 43.62% 43.52% 25.54% 24,90%

The Group manages the relationship berween equity injections and borrowings, being the constituent
elements of capital as reflected above, with 4 view 1o managing the cost of capital. The level of capital, as
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position, is maintained by reference 1o the Group’s
respective financial obligations and commitments arising from operational requirements. In view of the
nature of the Group’s activities and the extent of borrowings or debrt, the capital level at the end of the
teporting petiod determined by reference to the consolidated financial statements is deemed adequate by
the directors.
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Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category
The canying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilites as recognised at the end of the reportng

periods under review may also be categorised as follows. See Note 3 for explanations about how the
category of financial instruments affects their subsequent measurernent.

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-current assets
Financial assets at FVTPL
Unlisted equity securities 341 3,411 - -
Financial assets at amortised cost
Amounts due from related companies and other 6,412 6,120 23,223 24,623

investees

Other receivables 161 235 - -
Current assets
Financial assets at FVTPL
Bend securines 160 386 1,254 1,479
Equity securities - - - -
Murual funds - - - -
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade receivables and other receivables 42,808 37,652 10,226 9,966
Cash and cash equivalents 83,238 101,398 5,190 9,448
Assets placed under trust arrangement 77 77 - -
Total financial assets 136,267 149,179 39,893 45,516
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35, Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category - condnued

The Group The Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-curtent liabilities
Other financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
Bank borrowings 385,609 345,006 121 207
Bonds 292,079 336,492 - -
Other financial liabilities 35,846 34,685 90,256 105,503
Lease liabilites 16,479 17,943 as 116
Trade and other payables 23,270 3,307 - -
Current liabilities
Other financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
Bank borrowings 50,335 41,352 86 594
Bonds 44,953 10,362 - -
Orher financial liabilities 5,500 91 12,990 -
Lease liabilides 2,388 2,889 36 29
Trade and other payables 86,937 83,357 9,510 9,728
‘Total liabilities 943,396 875,484 113,082 116,177

356 Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabiliies measured at fair value in the statemenr of
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. This hierarchy groups financial assets and
liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used in measuring the fair value of the financial
assets and liabiliies. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

o Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assers or liabilides;

¢  Level 2: based on informaton other than quoted ptices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either direcily (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

e Level 3 information for the asset or liability that is not based on observable marker data
{unobservable inputs).
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.6 Financial instruments measured at fair value - conunued

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of
significant input o the fair value measurement,

The key financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

The Group
2024 2023 2024 2023
€000 €000 €000 €000
Level 1 Level 3
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit
ot loss
Equiry securities - - 341 3411
Bond secutites 160 386 - -
Total 160 386 341 3411

The Company’s financial assets measured at fair value consist of investments in listed securities and unlisted
equity securities as disclosed in Note 19 and are inchuded in the Level 1 and Level 3 fair value hierarchy
respectively,

Measurement of fair value

The fair value of the financial assers at fair value through profir and loss which are quoted and accordingly
categorised as Level 1 instruments was based on quoted market prices.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting period.

Investments in unlisted equity securites, categorised as Level 3 instruments in view of their unlisted nature
comprise the acquisition during 2019 of minority stakes in Global Hotel Alliance and Moscow Project. In
the opinion of the Directors, as at year-end, the fait value of these investments is best represented by the
Group’s acquisition price, or the share of adjusted net asset value.

Movements in these investments are portrayed in the rable below.
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Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.6 Financial instrtuments measured at fair value - continued

Measurement of fair value - continued

The Group
2024 2023
€000 €000
Level 3
At 1 January 3,411 5373
Fair value movements - (1,962)
At 31 December 1411 3411

There have been no wansfers of financial assets between the different level of the fair value hierarchy.
35.7 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below provides informadon about the fair values of the Group's and the Company's financial
instruments which are not measured at fair value and which bear interest at a fixed rate. For financial
instruments bearing interest ac floating rates, management is of the opinion that the fair values are not
significantly different from the carrying value since the interest on these instruments already reflect the
current market rates and counterparty risk has not significantly changed.

The Group
2024 2023 2024 2023
€200 €000 €000 €000
Level 1 Level 3

Assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans to investee - - 5,724 5,348
Total - - 5,724 5,348
Liabilities
Financial liabilities
Bonds 338,191 334,459 - -
Shareholders’ loans - - 23,160 31,081
Total 338,191 334,067 23,160 31,081
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35.

36.

37.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.7 Financial instruments not measured at fait value - contnued

The Company
2024 2023
€000 €000
Level 3

Non-current Assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans to subsidiaties - 23,487
Total - 23,487
Non-current Liabilities
Financial liabilities
Shareholders’ loans 23,160 31,081
Loans from subsidiaries 37,153 36,403
Toral , 40,313 67 484

The bonds are classified as Level 1 hierarchy since they are listed in an active market and the fair values are
determined based on the market price at the reporting date.

The faur values of the financial asscts and finandial liabilities classified as Level 3 hierarchy during 2024 were
calculated based on a cash flow discounted using the current lending race for similar instruments at the
reporting date. They are classifted as Level 3 hierarchy due to the use of unobservable inpuis including
counterparty risk. Management considers the carrying amounts of these instruments for the comparative
period presented to be a reasonable estmate of their fair values dve ta insignificant changes in the interest
rates and counterparty sisks.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the trade and other receivables, assets placed under st
arrangement and trade and other payables to be a reasonable esdmate of their fair valee principally in view
of the relatively short pericds to repricing or marurity from the end of the reporting petiods.

Ultimate controlling party

The Company is the ultimate parent of the Corinthia Group.

In view of its sharcholding structure, the Group and the Company have no ultimate controlling parry.

Events after the reporting period

In February 2025, the Group entered into a promise of sale agreement to dispose of a plot of land in Marsa.

126



